

MAY, 2020

KEMRI Wellcome Trust







AUTHORS

- Edwine Barasa | Expertise: Health Economics Affiliation: KEMRI-Wellcome Trust Research Programme, Nairobi, Kenya
- Mamothena C. Mothupi | Expertise: Public health
 Affiliation: University of Western Cape School of Public Health, Cape Town, South Africa
- Fatuma Guleid | Expertise: Knowledge Translation
 Affiliation: KEMRI-Wellcome Trust Research Programme, Nairobi, Kenya
- Chijioke Nwosu | Expertise: Development Economics Affiliation: Human Sciences Research Council, Cape Town, South Africa
- Evelyn Kabia | Expertise: Health Economics Affiliation: KEMRI-Wellcome Trust Research Programme, Nairobi, Kenya
- Debisi Araba | Expertise: Agriculture and Food Systems Affiliation: Africa Green Revolution Forum, Kigali, Rwanda
- Stacey Orangi | Expertise: Health Economics Affiliation: KEMRI-Wellcome Trust Research Programme, Nairobi, Kenya
- Kui Muraya | Expertise: Gender and Health Systems Affiliation: KEMRI-Wellcome Trust Research Programme, Nairobi, Kenya
- 9. Jesse Gitaka | Expertise: Physician scientist, infectious diseases Affiliation: Mount Kenya university, Thika, Nairobi
- Kevin Marsh | Expertise: Infectious diseases
 Affiliation: Africa Academy of Sciences, Nairobi, Kenya

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to acknowledge, Juliette Mutheu, Charles Njagi, Isayvani Naicker from the Africa Academy of Sciences, Binta Zahra Diop from the University of Oxford, and Clemence Pougue Byong from the University of Paris 1 Pantheon-Sorbonne for their contributions to the report.

DISCLAIMER

This document is an output from a project funded by the UK Department for International Development (DFID) through the Research for Evidence Division (RED) for the benefit of developing countries. However, the views expressed, and information contained in it is not necessarily those of, or endorsed by DFID, which can accept no responsibility for such views or information or for any reliance placed on them.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AUTHORS	2
Acknowledgements	2
Disclaimer	2
TABLE OF CONTENTS	3
LIST OF TABLES	4
LIST OF FIGURES	6
1: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	5
1.1: Introduction	5
1.2: Health and Social-Economic Impacts of Physical Distancing in Africa	6
1.2: Key Recommendations	6
1.2.1: Cross-Cutting Recommendations	6
1.2.2: Recommendations to Mitigate the Impacts on the Health Sector	8
1.2.3: Recommendations to Mitigate Economic Impacts	9
1.2.4: Recommendations to Mitigate Food Security Impacts	10
1.2.5: Recommendations to Mitigate Education Impacts	10
1.2.6: Recommendations to Mitigate the Gendered Impacts	11
1.2.7: Recommendations to Mitigate the Impacts on Populations Living in Informal Settlements and Forced Displacements	11
2: INTRODUCTION	12
3: REGIONAL OVERVIEW	13
4: THE APPLICATION OF PHYSICAL DISTANCING IN AFRICA	14
5: HEALTH AND SOCIAL-ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF PHYSICAL DISTANCING IN AFRICA	17
5:1 Health System Impacts	17
5:2 Economic Impacts	18
5:2:1 Macro-economic Impacts	18
5:2:3: Micro-economic Impacts	18
5:3: Food and Nutritional Security	19
5:4 Education Impacts	20
5:5: Gendered Impacts	21
5:6: Impacts on Populations Living in Informal Settlements and Forced Displacement Camps	22
5.7: Impact on Other Vulnerable Populations	22
6: COUNTRY CASE STUDIES	23
6.1: Case Study 1: South Africa	23
6.1: Case Study 2: Kenya	24
6.3: Case Study 3: Senegal	25
7: KEY RECOMMENDATIONS	26
7.1: Cross-Cutting Recommendations	26
7.3: Recommendations to Mitigate the Impacts on the Health Sector	28
7.4: Recommendations to Mitigate Economic Impacts	29
7.5: Recommendations to Mitigate Food Security Impacts	30
7.6: Recommendations to Mitigate Education Impacts	30
7.7: Recommendations to Mitigate the Gendered Impacts	31
7.8: Recommendations to Mitigate the Impacts on Populations Living in Informal Settlements and Forced Displacements	31
8: REFERENCES	32

LIST OF TABLES & FIGURES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Multi-dimensional impacts of physical distancing restrictions	5
Table 2:Adaptations to physical distancing measures	6
Table 3: Factors affecting compliance with physical distance measures (35)	15
Table 4: Mean % mobility changes in response to physical distancing measures implemented by 24 African countries (38)	15
Table 5: Projected reductions in cases if full lockdowns are implemented (42)	16
Table 6:Adaptations to physical distancing measures	26

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Physical distancing r	measures implemented in Africa	(34)	

1: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1: Introduction

In the absence of a cure or a vaccine, countries have to rely on a suite of nonpharmaceutical interventions that include 1) testing, contact tracing, isolation and treatment, 2) hand and cough hygiene, and 3) a range of physical distancing measures (1). This brief reviews the health and socio-economic effects of physical distancing restrictions in Africa and provides recommendations on how to mitigate them. The method adopted to develop the brief was a rapid (unsystematic) review of available literature as well as the team's expert knowledge, with a caveat that, understandably, there is very little peer-reviewed literature available.

1.2: Health and Socio-Economic Impacts of Physical Distancing in Africa

The overarching observation is that stringent physical distancing measures that are not adapted to the contextual realities of Africa's settings can or have led to serious negative impacts on the lives and livelihoods of the population (Table 1).

Table 1: Multi-dimensional impacts of physical distancing restrictions

Dimension	Impact
Health system	Reductions in availability and access to essential healthcare services, with negative impacts on health outcomes
Economy	Slow-down of economic growth Financial hardship for households because of lost jobs, and incomes
Food systems	Reduction in availability and access to food leading to food insecurity
Education	Reductions in level of education, widening inequality in learning access and outcomes, and increased school drop outs
Gendered impacts	Disproportionate impacts on health access, financial hardship due to job and income losses, food insecurity, and access to education. Increase in incidence of gender-based violence
Informal settlements, and populations living in forced encampments	Disproportionate impacts on health access, financial hardship due to job and income losses, food insecurity, and access to education Inability to observe physical distance because of small crowded houses. Houses often do not have water, toilets. Residents have to go outside to access these facilities that are shared
Other vulnerable populations (the elderly, disabled, people with chronic diseases and youth)	Disproportionate impacts across all health and socio-economic dimensions

1.2: Key Recommendations

The recommendations outlined here are based on the recognition that while stringent physical distancing measures are expected to have a positive impact on the reduction of COVID-19 transmission, they are also likely to have substantial negative health and socio-economic impacts. These negative impacts are likely to be greater in African countries because of a range of vulnerabilities. African countries therefore need to consider the broader net benefit of measures that they choose to implement and they need to adapt and localize their response to align with the contextual realities of the continent, and to optimize expected benefits of physical distancing, while minimizing the undesired impacts. In considering these recommendations, governments will need to take into account the risks associated with each measure and their feasibility, including financial feasibility and implementation capacity, suitability and acceptability, to their specific contexts.

1.2.1: Cross-Cutting Recommendations

Where feasible, governments should consider:

Adapting physical distancing measures: Adapt physical distancing measures that minimize the negative health, and social-economic impacts of restrictions. Table 2 outlines examples of physical distancing adaptations that have been employed by African countries.

Table 2:Adaptations to physical distancing measures

Physical distancing adaptations	Examples of Countries that have implemented the adaptation
Imposing of dusk to dawn curfews or partial lockdowns rather than full lock downs	Kenya, Senegal
Staggered introduction of physical distancing measures	Kenya, Senegal
Risk based movement restrictions rather than blanket restrictions across the country. For instance, in Kenya, movement restrictions have been imposed in transmission hotspots - Nairobi, and coastal counties, and a residential neighbourhood in Nairobi and Mombasa, rather than the entire country (2)	Kenya, Ghana, Nigeria
Keeping the informal economy operational – allowing food markets and small-scale traders to operate with measures to reduce physical distance such as reducing the number of traders and customers, relocating traders to decongest markets, and hygiene	Kenya, South Africa
"Temporal distancing"(3) – opening markets on specific days and times of the week, and closing them on other days and times. For instance, in Nigeria, markets are open on specific days of the week, and for a shorter time on the open days	Nigeria
Allowing public transport to operate with guidelines reduce carrying capacity, space out seating, and hand hygiene	Ghana, Nigeria, Kenya, Senegal

Augmenting adapted measures to minimize risks: Less stringent physical distancing measures may come with risks of increased transmissions. Options for minimizing risk include:

- Where possible, ramping up active case finding, testing, and isolation. This may however not be feasible in countries with severe financial constraints, and because of supply chain challenges for testing reagents.
- Advising the public to wear (cloth-based) face masks in public spaces (4).
- The availability and affordability of face masks at scale may be a challenge.
- Setting minimum capacity and spatial proximity requirements in public spaces such as markets, shops, and public transport. There are several examples where business have used innovative approaches such as using paint to draw spots where people can stand while queuing in shops.
- Setting guidelines for promoting hand hygiene for businesses such as washing or sanitizing hands. Challenges that will need to be addressed include availability of clean water, soap, or hand sanitizers.
- For instance, instead of a full lockdown, Ghana implemented a partial lockdown backed by aggressive testing and contact tracing. It is worth noting however that Ghana has greater capacity for testing compared to most other African countries. Ghana, Kenya, and several other countries have implemented disinfection programs in informal markets that have been left to operate(5), and provide water and other sanitary facilities to markets and informal settlements (6).

Contextualizing physical distancing practices: Engage communities to find out how to localize physical distancing measures and communicate risk effectively in ways that will enhance acceptance and compliance, (7).

• For instance, the COVID-19 taskforce in Nigeria has a cultural arm that uses cultural messaging and comedy to reinforce physical distancing interventions (8)

Shielding high risk population groups: Shielding entails identifying and isolating high risk populating groups to protect them from infection. Shielding could take various forms (9). It could involve requiring elderly persons and/or persons with comorbidities that increase the risk of COVID-19 severity to self-isolate or stay at home while low risk groups can go to work.

 For instance, the Kenyan government has asked public servants above the age of 58 to take paid leave and advised the private sector to do the same (10), while the South African government has advised the elderly to shield (11). Shielding should also be considered in forced displacement camps where a separate section of the camp, "a green zone", could be set up and high risk groups relocated there temporarily and so they have minimal contact with the rest of the camp residents (9).

• The feasibility of shielding may however meet with resistance and become infeasible to implement. Therefore shielding approaches should be designed in consultation with communities to ensure that they are culturally appropriate and gain acceptance (9).

Leveraging on community structures and networks: Work with and leverage on community structures, local leaders, respected individuals in the local societies, religious organizations etc to engage communities to enhance compliance of physical distancing measures.

• For instance in Ethiopia, the international organization of migration (IOM) is working with local community leaders to enhance the awareness of communities about risks and prevention measures (12).

Facilitating bottom-up community responses: Facilitate and enable bottom up, community driven initiatives to support communities to cope with the health and socio-economic effects of restrictions.

• **Examples** of such networks include the community action networks (CANs) in South Africa (13,14), and community based organizations like Mutual Aid and Ghetto foundation in Kenya that are helping communities with initiatives such as cash transfers and food distribution (15,16)

Consult and engage with vulnerable populations: Engage with vulnerable groups to co-produce health, social, and economic responses to COVID-19. This will enhance the sensitivity of these responses to their specific vulnerabilities (17–20).

Make the dissemination of COVID-19 information disability inclusive: This could include the use of sign language interpreters when making announcements, during briefings and other communication, and distributing braille versions of information, education, and communication materials (21).

Monitoring and responding: Set up mechanisms to regularly monitor the multi-dimensional impact of physical distancing restrictions to inform timely responses (7). This could include periodically conducting community surveys by leveraging on and working with a network of existing academic and research institutions. It should also include a resident feedback mechanism by setting up a toll-free call center to receive information about citizen experiences, including reporting about human rights violations by security forces.

1.2.2: Recommendations to Mitigate the Impacts on the Health Sector

Where feasible, governments should consider:

- Identifying essential services to be prioritized for continuity of service delivery: Map and identify essential health services and those most susceptible to disruptions and put in place measures to ensure continued availability and access of these services. These measures could include(22):
 - Active communication and outreach to engage with citizens about the importance of these services, and their availability under the physical distancing period, and reassure them of their safety should they need to seek care.
 - Develop priority lists of essential supplies, stock-pile and pre-position supplies at the national and regional and local levels, and network supplies and redistribute supplies to mitigate supply chain disruptions (22,23).
 - Ensure healthcare facilities remain open to provide essential healthcare services (24).
 - Provide transportation to healthcare facilities for patients needing very essential services.
 - For instance, the City of Nairobi in collaboration with health stakeholders such as Amref and taxi platform company Bolt are providing free transportation for expectant mothers to hospital for delivery.

Leveraging on technology: Explore innovative models of care such as telemedicine to enhance continuity of care

for services that are amenable to remote consultations. For example Kenya has outlined a plan to establish tele call centers to facilitate continuity of provision of reproductive, maternal, and child health services (24). However, digital technologies carry the risk of exacerbating existing inequalities in access to healthcare services because the poor, those in rural areas, and other vulnerable groups are less likely to have access to digital technologies. For these groups measures to maintain physical access to healthcare services could be explored.

Leverage on community health workers: Leverage on community health workers to deliver essential health services to communities and households (25,26). While this will likely improve the pro-poorness of mitigation measures, it carries the risk of transmission because of physical contact between community health workers and households. Measures to reduce these risks include equipping community health workers with personal protective equipment and ensuring hand hygiene is observed during household visits.

Facilitating health worker movement in contexts of movement restrictions: Most African countries have designated health workers as essential frontline workers and provided them with exceptions to move around in places where lockdowns, curfews, and movement restrictions have been imposed. However, the enforcement of these exceptions should be monitored given reports from several African countries that health workers are finding it difficult to get to work and citizens cannot access care (27,28).

1.2.3: Recommendations to Mitigate Economic Impacts

Where feasible, governments should consider:

Cushioning firms providing essential services: Providing targeted subsidies to firms that provide essential services such as healthcare, electricity, water, agriculture and food production, and communication. For instance, subsidies to telecommunication companies will enable them to support access to cheaper mobile money transactions, and data to enhance their efficiency of employees working from home.

• For instance, the South African government is providing financial support to local firms that are providing essential service in the form of credit facilities at subsidized interest rates (29).

Supporting vulnerable groups: Implement social protection programmes targeted at vulnerable segments of the population especially the poor, those in the informal sector, and people living in informal settlements and forced displacement camps. These include indirect tax reductions, and cash transfers leveraging on the efficiency of mobile money transfers (30–34), waivers for basic services such as electricity, water, money transfer transactions, and moratoriums on individual loan repayments.

• For instance, the government of Togo is providing cash support to low income residents of its capital Lome (9) while Kenya, Nigeria, and South Africa are scaling up existing cash transfer programmes to vulnerable households leveraging on mobile money transfer platforms (35). Ghana is helping households by paying their water bills (36).

Providing income support to individuals that lose their jobs: Provide income support and temporary employment to low income and informal sector employers who lose their jobs because of physical distancing restrictions.

· For example, Kenya is providing a daily income

supplement to more than 10,000 youths living in Nairobi's informal settlements in exchange for labour such as disinfecting markets (37). The government of Botswana is contributing to 50% of the salary of furloughed citizens, and providing a subsidy of between USD 80-170 per month to meet their basic needs (15).

■ Integrate a focus on the vulnerable in socio-economic responses: Identify the vulnerable— the old, the elderly, women, the poor, the youth, and those with chronic conditions, and specifically target them with social protection measures such as income support (17–20).

Ensuring pro-poorness of interventions: Align financial aid with the realities of vulnerable and marginalized populations. Reductions in direct taxes are unlikely to benefit the poor and those living in informal settlements or encampments. On the other hand, reductions in informal taxes, and direct cash transfers would.

Providing financial support to small informal businesses: Provide liquidity support to SME. These include reduced bank loan interest rates, moratoriums on SME loan repayments, relief from business taxes, and specific financial subsidies to allow them to keep and continue to pay staff.

• For instance, Botswana is providing a wage subsidy to SME's as an incentive to retain their staff during the lockdown (15).

Debt repayment moratoriums: Multi-lateral and bilateral lenders should consider suspending debt repayments by African countries to provide temporary debt relief to support macroeconomic stability in the region(30,38). Debt relief will boost liquidity and expand the fiscal space of African countries, boosting their capacity to absorb the economic shocks due to COVID-19 (30,38).

1.2.4: Recommendations to Mitigate Food Security Impacts

Where feasible, governments should consider:

Monitoring access to food and food prices: In collaboration with other local and international organizations, establish mechanisms for the assessment of supply chains and food markets, availability and access to food, and fluctuations of food prices.

Keeping trade corridors open: In collaboration with regional, and international organizations, foster cooporation to maintain trade corridors for agricultural inputs and food imports and exports (30). This may however carry the risk of cross-border movement of infected individuals. Mitigating measure could include border screening and testing where feasible.

Keep food supply chains functioning: Designate workers involved in food supply chains such as transporters as essential frontline workers and enforce movement restriction exceptions for agricultural inputs, produce, and these frontline workers. This will sustain the logistical operations of local food supply chains (39).

Provide income support to vulnerable groups: This could take the form of cash transfers to vulnerable and food insecure households leveraging on mobile money to improve the efficiency of disbursement and reduction of physical contact. Cash transfers will facilitate the purchase of food where markets are still operational and minimize market

distortions.

■ Implement food distribution programs to the vulnerable: Protect vulnerable populations such as the poor, the elderly, individuals living in informal settlement, refugee camps, internally displaced populations, and the homeless by providing and distributing food to households. Several African governments, including South Africa, Senegal, Uganda are implementing food distribution programs to the vulnerable in the community (40–42).

Sustain existing humanitarian and social protection programs: While COVID-19 will require scaling up existing humanitarian and social protection programs, it is important to maintain and sustain existing programs to avoid disruption.

Set up public food kitchens: Designate particular food retail outlets as public kitchens. Households could be provided with e-vouchers to purchase fresh, cooked food daily. The e-voucher system would help ensure that the micro-economy of these communities is sustained, while creating market incentives for food chains to keep running.

• For example, the opening up of food kitchens in several townships in South Africa that have remained open during the lockdown is reported to have helped vulnerable families in these neighbourhoods (43).

1.2.5: Recommendations to Mitigate Education Impacts

Where feasible, governments should consider:

Implementing equity responsive remote learning: Implement remote learning programs using multiple rather than single platforms to ensure reach is optimized. The selection of platforms should consider reach, and equity implications. For instance, more people have radio's compared to TVs in Africa, and more people have basic phones compared to smart phones (44–46).

Distributing paper based learning materials to those that need them: Implement arrangements to make paper based learning material physically available in low income areas with poor access to remote learning platforms (internet, radio, TV) by delivering a basic package of learning materials, including books and writing materials to households (32).

Implement targeted outreach to disadvantaged groups: Implement targeted outreach and support to students and parents/guardians to enhance uptake of remote learning (44–46).

Training and supporting teachers: Train teachers on remote learning approaches and equipping them with the resources required to implement these approaches (e.g. hardware, software, internet access) (32,44–46).

Adapting curricula: Adapt curricula to enhance feasibility

and effectiveness of remote learning. This includes simplifying curricula to prioritize areas that are most consequential for learning progression in the coming school year(46).

Implementing food programs for vulnerable children: Introducing community food programs for children to replace school food programs and ensure that the nutritional needs of children are still met (32).

Make learning accessible to people with disabilities: consider delivering remote learning in ways that are accessible to the disabled. This includes including sign language interpreters in online learning, and districting braille paper and braille readers at home (21).

Focusing on the vulnerable: Finally, all these interventions should pay special attention to the poor, the marginalized and the vulnerable. For instance, pay attention to children from poor and marginalized households (e.g. those living in rural areas, informal settlements, refugee camps), girls that are more likely to taken on huge burdens of domestic duties, boys who are most likely to drop out of school to take up income generating activities, and cohorts transitioning between schooling levels (primary to secondary, and secondary to college). This includes raising awareness and sensitizing communities on the need to protect these children and support them to continue with home learning.

1.2.6: Recommendations to Mitigate the Gendered Impacts

Where feasible, governments should consider:

Tackling gender-based violence: Institute multi-agency coordinated responses to tackle gender-based violence.

These include:

- Establishing national toll-free helplines (with the required infrastructure to sustain these numbers) (47).
- Establishing shelters and safehouses, specialized (free) emergency medical and police services. This would also include successful mental health, social and legal services (48).

Implementing gender-responsive social protection programs: The social protection measures implemented to cushion households from the socio-economic impacts of restrictions should be gender-responsive by paying special attention to the vulnerabilities and disproportionate effects on women. Paying attention to educational needs and challenges

of girls: Given the gender-specific risks of school closures, education responses could prioritize the needs of girls and particularly adolescent girls. This requires a community approach that includes all necessary stakeholders such as the youth (to ensure youth-friendly messaging); and leverages on teachers and community members to raise awareness and sensitize communities on the need to protect girls and support them to continue with home learning.

• For instance, in the context of Ebola, in countries such as Sierra Leone, villages that established 'girls clubs' (i.e. safe spaces) where girls could go to during school closures, reported that fewer girls experienced adverse effects and were more likely to continue their learning (50).

1.2.7: Recommendations to Mitigate the Impacts on Populations Living in Informal Settlements and Forced Displacements

Where feasible, governments should consider:

Stopping forceful evictions: Forcefully evicting individuals living in informal settlements, or those that are internally displaced puts them at an even greater risk of contracting COVID-19. In addition to declaring a stop to forceful evictions, governments should allocate resources to implement, monitor and prevent extrajudicial evictions (51).

Improving housing and living conditions: Improve access to water and sanitation amenities in informal settlements and forced displacement encampments. In the short term, this includes supplying water with water tankers, drilling boreholes, and building toilets.

 For instance, the Kenyan government has installed hand washing stations and distributed soap in informal settlements in Nairobi (52).

Providing shelter for the homeless: Provide shelters to the homeless and move them out of the streets into facilities that will keep them safe.

• For instance, the South African government has set up shelters for the homeless (53).

Reducing overcrowding: Consider reducing overcrowding in informal settlements by developing new shelters and upgrading the existing ones to improve the quality of housing.

• For instance, the government of Djibouti has provided asylum seekers and refugees with new shelters, while the Somali government has upgraded shelters in high risk camps for internally displaced populations to reduce congestion (51).

However, the relocation of individuals and households should be done with close consultations with those affected and in a humane way to ensure that the rights and dignity of the individuals are safeguarded.

Keep informal supply chains open: Identify essential services that and informal supply chains that serve the residents of informal settlements and forced displacement encampments and keep them operational. These include supply and sale of food, energy, water, and transportation (51).

2: INTRODUCTION

t the time of writing this (May 2020), the COVID-19 pandemic has spread to nearly all countries globally, infecting more than 4.5 million people, and killing more than 300,000 people (54). COVID-19 is an acute respiratory tract infection that is spread through droplet infection (55,56). In the absence of a cure or a vaccine, countries have to rely on a suite of nonpharmaceutical interventions that include 1) testing, contact tracing, isolation and treatment, 2) hand and cough hygiene, and 3) a range of physical distancing measures (1). These measures are aimed at slowing down the transmission of COVID-19 to flatten the epidemiological curve, preserve the health system capacity to meet the healthcare needs of COVID-19 patients and others, and thereby avert morbidity and mortality due to COVID-19 (1,57). This brief reviews the application of physical distancing measures by African countries. Physical distancing encompasses a range of measures that reduce physical contact between individuals in the population and hence slowing transmission (1,57). Examples of physical distancing measures range from less stringent ones like self-isolation for people with symptoms, limiting physical proximity to not less than 2 meters in all spaces (work, public places, at home), to more stringent ones like working from home, curfews, movement restrictions, and lockdowns. While physical distancing measures could yield positive effects such as slowing down transmission, they also result in unintended and undesired health, social, and economic

effects. The risk for these unintended effects are greater in low and middle income countries, and Africa in particular, because of a range of vulnerabilities that include strained health systems, high levels of poverty and inequality, food insecurity, high levels of informality in the economic system, populations living in informal settlements, refugees, and internally displaced populations, homelessness, high population densities and poor living conditions especially in cities, and high prevalence of diseases, that are likely to increase the risk for severe COVID-19 disease, such as HIV/AIDs, TB, malaria, anaemia, and malnutrition (9,30,58,59). These vulnerabilities are compounded by inadequate social safety net systems (30). This brief summarizes 1) the approaches that African governments have taken to implement physical distancing measures to combat COVID-19 2) observed and likely multi-sectoral effects of these measures, and 3) recommendations for African governments to mitigate against the unintended effects of physical distancing. The brief has been developed by a multi-disciplinary team with expertise in economics, health systems, public health, public policy, epidemiology, infectious diseases, agriculture and food systems. The method adopted to develop the brief was a rapid (unsystematic) review of available literature as well as the team's expert knowledge, with a caveat that, understandably, there is very little peer-reviewed literature available.

3: REGIONAL OVERVIEW

Economic characteristics: 47 of the 48 Sub-Saharan African (SSA) countries are classified as low and middle income (LMIC) (60). SSA has a predominantly informal economy, with 84% of employment coming from the informal sector,-62% working on family farms and 22% working on small household enterprises (61). On average, 6.1% of the labour workforce in SSA is unemployed, with the unemployment rates ranging from 0.3 % (Niger) to 27.3% (South Africa) (62). Approximately 42% (419,600,00) of the population in SSA live below the international poverty line (\$1.90 a day) with the poverty rates ranging from 0.2% (Mauritius) to 77.6% (Madagascar) (63). SSA has a predominantly rural population (60%) with estimates ranging from 11% (Gabon) to 87% (Burundi) (64).

Demographic characteristics: In 2019 SSA had an estimated population of 1.1 billion people with the young accounting for a significant proportion of the population. People aged 0-14 years account for 43% (458,694,475) of the population, with the estimates ranging from 18% (Mauritius) to 50% (Niger) (65). People aged 65 years and above account for the minority of the population (3%) (65). The largely young population puts Africa at an advantage since old age is associated with a higher risk for severe and critical COVID-19 disease (65).

■ Health system capacity: Health systems in Africa are underfunded (66). The average public health expenditure as a percentage of gross domestic product (GDP) in the region is 1.9%, with all but Namibia (5.6%) spending less than the recommended 5% threshold (67,68). Health systems in the African continent are often under strain (69,70)2019, the Chinese government officially announced the identification of a new type of coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2 with a majority of health facilities already operating at their maximum capacity (71). For instance, most African countries have less than 5 hospital beds per 10,000 population (72). The continent is estimated to have about 20,000 intensive-care unit (ICU) beds which translates to 1.7 ICU beds per 100,000 people, compared to China and the US which have 3.6, and 29 ICU beds per 100,000 people respectively (9). For instance, Namibia has just 18 ICU beds for a population of 2.5 million people (73). Substantial gaps also exist in essential health interventions relevant to COVID-19. For instance, only 58% of hospital beds in Kenya have access to Oxygen, while 89% of patients needing oxygen in Malawi did not receive it (74,75). The continent has the lowest healthcare worker population globally (76) with less than 30% of SSA countries meeting the WHO target of 4.45 health workers per 1000 people (77–79). Geographical access to emergency hospital care is another challenge, only 16 out of 48 SSA countries and islands had met the international recommendation of having over 80% of the population residing within a 2-hour travel time to the nearest hospital.

Epidemic preparedness and expected vulnerabilities to controlling COVID-19: Concerns have been raised about the preparedness of African countries for pandemics generally, and COVID-19 in particular. According to the 2019 Global Health Security Index, 14 out of the 18 least prepared countries come from Africa (80). A review of health security capacities showed that 21 out of 47 (45%) of countries in WHO African region have low operational readiness capacity with none ranked as having the highest level of operational readiness (81). However, despite the various challenges, previous Ebola outbreaks offer lessons that can inform COVID-19 response (69). For instance, several African countries were prepared to conduct airport screenings because structures had been put in place during the 2014-2016 Ebola outbreak (82). Similarly, health system capacities built by countries to fight the high HIV and TB prevalence such as Gene-Xpert technologies are being adapted and leveraged testing of COVID-19 (70)2019, the Chinese government officially announced the identification of a new type of coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2. It is however important to ensure that the use of existing platforms such as Gene-Xpert does not displace care for HIV and TB patients.

4: THE APPLICATION OF PHYSICAL DISTANCING IN AFRICA

A range of physical distancing measures have been implemented in countries across Africa to slow the spread of COVID-19: The stringency of these measures varies. For instance, while Uganda and South Africa have introduced full lockdowns, Ghana and Nigeria have opted for partial lockdowns, and Kenya and Senegal are implementing a dusk to dawn curfew and movement restrictions in transmission hotspots. A summary of physical distancing measures implemented in Africa is shown (Figure 1) (83).



Figure 1: Physical distancing measures implemented in Africa (83)

The effectiveness of physical distancing is influenced largely by compliance by the public: The compliance to physical distancing measures is influenced by several factors (table 1) (84):

Table 3: Factors affecting compliance with physical distance measures (84)

Factor	Description
Economic factors	African economies are predominantly informal. People that work in the informal sector, earning a daily wage, or operating small scale informal business incur huge income losses that threaten their livelihoods when they or their clients stay at home
Population density	High population densities, such as those found in Africa's low-income neighbourhoods in cities, informal settlements, and forced displacement camps, as well as overcrowded institutions such as prisons makes it difficult to keep physical distances
Housing and living conditions	Populations in Africa living in small, often one-roomed, crowded low income housing, informal settlements, forced displacement camps and the homeless find it difficult to comply with social distancing because of space constraints, and the need to share amenities such as water and toilets that are outside
Conflict settings	Over 200 million people live in African countries afflicted by conflict and instability (85,86). The risk of getting harmed during conflict makes it impractical for households to comply with physical distancing directives, if they need to move to avoid conflict
Social structures and networks	African households, especially in rural areas, are typically large and multi-generational. Self- isolation within households, including for vulnerable groups such as the elderly is difficult in these settings
Level of trust in authorities	Communities may be less willing to comply with physical distancing measures if they have less trust in government for political and historical reasons
Understanding of disease causation and healing	Inadequate levels of awareness of the disease and associated risks within the community, or misinformation may reduce compliance to physical distancing directives
Cultural, social and religious practices	Strong belief and observance of cultural and social practices such weddings, and burials, greetings, and religious practices such as group worship may reduce compliance to physical distancing measures

With good compliance, physical distancing measures are expected to drastically change social mixing patterns: Google GPS tracking data shows that there was a 44% drop in retail and recreational activities in African countries while there was a 23% increase in activities at residential places places as a result of physical distancing restrictions (Table 2).

Table 4:Mean % mobility changes in response to physical distancing measures implemented by 24 African countries (87)

Area	Mean % change from baseline (95% CI)	Lower range	Upper range
Retail and recreation	-44.3 (-51.6637.01)	-71	-18
Grocery and pharmacy	-27.08 (-35.4918.68)	-62	37
Parks	-23.54 (-31.4215.66)	-47	43
Transit stations	-50.13 (-58.2042.05)	-79	-23
Workplaces	-35.75 (-44.0427.46)	-70	-12
Residential	23 (18.62-27.38)	11	43

Model-based predictions can give insight into the effect of physical distancing measures on transmission. For instance, physical distancing measures are predicted to slow the spread of the pandemic in Kenya by limiting contact between individuals if they are implemented for 90 days (88) and the same is suggested in Algeria (R_0 reduced to <1)(89). Similarly, increasing the stringency of physical distancing measures by 2% in South Africa was predicted to lead to a 18% decrease in cases (90).

Country	Projected reductions in cases
Algeria	40%
Egypt	41%
Libya	38%
Morocco	38%
Sudan	40%
Cameroon	40%
Democratic republic of Congo	40%
Burkina Faso	40%
Ivory Coast	33%
Senegal	35%
Kenya	33%
Rwanda	46%
Uganda	40%
Namibia	46%

Table 5: Projected reductions in COVID-19 cases if full lockdowns are implemented (91)

Physical distancing measures that are not adapted to Africa's contextual realities threaten the lives and livelihoods of its people: An overarching observation is that stringent physical distancing measures that are not adapted to the contextual realities of Africa's settings can or have led to serious negative impacts on the lives and livelihoods of the population, as outlined in detail in the next section of this brief. These negative impacts are multi-dimensional and include direct and indirect health, economic, education, and food systems.

Vulnerable populations bear a disproportionate burden of the undesired impacts of physical distancing: Vulnerable population groups that are likely to be most impacted by the negative health and socio-economic effects of physical distancing include women and girls, the youth, the elderly, and the disabled. It also includes the poor, the homeless, and people living in overcrowded low-income neighbourhoods, informal settlements and forced displacement camps.

Negative health and socio-economic impacts have made it challenging for African countries to implement stringent physical distancing measures: For instance, on average, respondents in a survey across 28 countries in Africa reported that they would run out of money and food in 12 and 10 days respectively because of physical distancing restrictions. In the same survey, respondents from Nigeria and Kenva reported that hunger was forcing them to violate physical distancing restrictions (7). Further, 59% reported that they lack the physical space to self-isolate (7). Another survey in 12 African countries found that while half of the surveyed respondents reported avoiding public spaces, only 20% reported that they were working from home and 18% were avoiding public transit (52). Compliance was found to be higher in countries that have implemented stringent measure that are typically enforced by the military and the police, and less in countries that have issued advisories rather than directives. For instance, of the sampled countries, 90% of respondents from Rwanda and South Africa reported staying at home, compared to 57% and 58% for Benin and Tanzania respectively (52). Rwanda and South Africa have implemented lockdowns while Benin and Tanzania haven't (83). However, even in African countries with strict physical distancing measures such as lockdowns, residents with threatened livelihoods often resist these measures as seen in protests in South Africa, Nigeria, and Kenya (92-94). In these countries, the implementation of stringent physical distancing measures has often turned violent. For instance, confrontations between people defying restrictions and security forces have led to injuries and deaths in Uganda, Kenya, Nigeria, South Africa and Rwanda (15,95–97).

5: HEALTH AND SOCIAL-ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF PHYSICAL DISTANCING IN AFRICA

This section explores the multi-dimensional impacts of stringent physical distancing measures such as lockdowns, cessation of public transport and geographic movement restrictions in Africa. While each dimension is explored in turn, the effects are closely linked and intertwined.

5:1 Health System Impacts

Stringent physical distancing measures are likely to have direct and indirect effects on African health systems: Positive direct health effects include flattening the transmission curve, preserving health system capacity, and averting COVID-19 morbidity and mortality (91). Negative direct effects include the increased incidence of mental health conditions such as depression and anxiety because of, among others, social isolation and the anxiety associated with uncertainty and worry (98–100). For instance, the South African Depression and Anxiety Group has reported an increase in the number of people calling in because of increased anxiety and "feeling down" because of the lockdown in South Africa (101). It has been argued that this might be worse in African settings given communal norms that are characterized by increased integration and interdependence of the individual and the community (102).

Indirect health effects of social distancing are caused by:

1) disruption of supply chains of health commodities because of international and national movement/travel restrictions, 2) reduced citizen access to other health services because of movement restrictions, and 3) reduced citizen utilization of healthcare services because of unwillingness to seek care for health concerns that are not perceived as urgent (103). Fear of harm from security forces in contexts where physical distancing enforcement is characterized by violence also contributes to this unwillingness to seek care (104,105).

Modelling estimates predict substantial impacts on healthcare access and outcomes: For instance, it is estimated

that reductions in coverage of essential health interventions including routine childhood immunization, because of disruptions, caused by physical distancing may result in between 253,500 -1,157,000 and 12,190 - 56,700 additional child and maternal deaths respectively in LMICs (103). The WHO predicts that disruptions will reduce the coverage of key malaria interventions such as insecticide treated nets (ITN) which are typically distributed through mass campaigns resulting in the increased risk of malaria infection (106). The analysis reveals that if the mass ITN distribution campaigns that are planned in 26 African countries in 2020 are disrupted by physical distancing measures, there will be a 10% increase in malaria cases and deaths (106). Further, it has been estimated that a 10% reduction in the use of short and long-acting reversible contraceptives will lead to approximately 15 million additional unwanted pregnancies in LMICs, including Africa (107).

These adverse impacts are already evident in some African countries: For instance, there are reports of mothers dying in labour in Uganda due to inability to access healthcare facilities in a lockdown (27). In Kenya, persons living with chronic diseases have reported concerns over getting medication refills (108). Further, an NGO that provides mobile family planning services to women reported that they have had to reduce their services by 40% due to the pandemic restrictions (109).



5:2:1 Macro-economic Impacts

Macro-economic impacts of stringent physical distancing in Africa are mediated through supply and demand shocks (30,110): On the supply side, disruptions in production and supply chains have affected the delivery and availability of goods and services in the market, while on the demand side, reduced economic activity and consumption have reduced the demand for certain goods and services (30,110). These impacts will translate into negative movements on macroeconomic aggregates such as GDP, inflation, and unemployment rates (30,110). For instance, it is estimated that SSA will experience a GDP growth rate of between -2.1 to -5.1% in 2020, with the contraction reaching as high as -6.9% in the three largest economies (Nigeria, South Africa, and Angola) due to the COVID-19 pandemic – effectively plunging the region into its first recession in the last quarter century (30,111). Loss of tax revenues due to economic shut or slow-downs will also worsen budget deficits and lead to increasing public debt (112,113). Indeed, revenues are projected to decline by 12% relative to a non-COVID-19 scenario; and coupled with increased pandemic-induced government spending, the fiscal balance of SSA is projected to deteriorate markedly, to around 2.7 percentage points of GDP higher than a non-COVID-19 scenario (114). This state of affairs will likely accentuate an impending debt crisis enhanced by rising borrowing costs partly due to investor pullback from risky assets (38).

5:2:3: Micro-economic Impacts

An immediate microeconomic impact of stringent physical distancing measures is a dramatic decline in household demand: For instance, retail sales in South Africa reduced by twothirds in the first 2 days of the country's lockdown, and two thirds of consumers in Nigeria are reported to have cut back on their spending (9). A reduction in household demand would result in lost output and income by businesses, a situation which coupled with firms' inability to repay outstanding loans, may result in business closures in extreme cases.

Lower demand and output, as well as stay-at-home directives, may result in furloughs in the short-to-medium term and unemployment over the long-term as businesses lay off workers: UNDP estimates that almost half of the existing jobs could be lost in Africa due to COVID-19 (111)with people working in the informal sector and small and medium enterprises (SMEs) being the most vulnerable since SMEs provide 80% of the jobs in Africa (115). Many SMEs face mounting costs, challenges paying salaries, and are at risk of closure or bankruptcy leading to widespread job losses (31,112,116). For instance, the Ethiopian horticulture industry is said to have lost USD 11 million resulting in a layoff of 150,000 people in the month of March (59). Lost income especially by daily wage earners and other informal workers who account for 84% of all employment in SSA will accentuate demand

pressures, fuelling a vicious cycle (30).

Business closures, income and job losses will in turn push households into or further into poverty: Out of an estimated 49 million people who will be pushed into extreme poverty in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, 23 million will be from SSA with Nigeria (5 million) and the Democratic Republic of the Congo (2 million) estimated to report the highest numbers (117). In Kenya, it has been estimated that between half a million to 2 million individuals will be pushed into poverty if the country were to go into a full lockdown for 1-3 months (Barasa et al, forthcoming).

Reduced household incomes will induce reduced consumption and expenditure: this is especially so in urban areas and among the poor, near-poor and other vulnerable groups (30,112,115,116) with most people only spending on food and essential household items (118). Reduced domestic consumer demand will lead to a further reduction in production and employment (119).

Measures such as school closures will mean that working individuals will allocate some of their time to childcare: this, coupled with poor broadband connectivity in SSA implies that working remotely will likely result in productivity loss.



Food systems in Africa are especially vulnerable to disruptions occasioned by stringent physical distancing measures: This is because of, among others 1) underlying food security challenges – over 50% of the world's acutely food-insecure people live in Africa, 2) conflict and insecurity, 3) climate shocks, 4) poverty and economic challenges, 5) heavy reliance on informal and fragmented food supply chains 6) dependence on food imports (120), and 7) the current locust invasion in East Africa (39,121). Stringent physical distancing measures will disrupt food systems on both the supply side (availability of food), and demand side (access to food) in the following ways (122).

First, the production and processing of food will be affected by labour shortages because people cannot go to work: This effect will be worse because food production and processing in Africa is labour intensive, and informal small holder farmers comprise 60% of the population (122). It is estimated that Africa will have a 7% reduction in agricultural production because of physical distancing measures (30).

Second, movement restrictions will affect the transport of food, increasing delivery times and reducing availability basic food items (121): While movement restriction measures by several African countries have provided exceptions for the supply of food, inadequate clarity about these restrictions, and inconsistent implementation by security forces have made it difficult for food transporters to operate (39). For example, a major trucking logistics firm in Africa reported a 30% decrease in fleet operations in Togo, Uganda, Kenya, Ghana and Nigeria, with reported rotting of agricultural produce in farms and depots (39). The food group most likely to be affected by disruptions in logistics (including storage) and transportation are those with short shelf lives, which include nutrient-dense fresh produce (vegetables and fruits), eggs and fresh milk (123). This is a concern because reduced availability of perishable nutritious foods will reduce the diet quality of foods, leading to malnutrition which in turn will have negative effects on health and development. Fresh foods (e.g. fruits, vegetables, dairy, meat, fish) are more vulnerable to these disruptions because of their complex supply chains - they are seasonal, labour intensive and have a short shelf life that requires good storage and transportation infrastructure.

Third, import and export restrictions will also disrupt the supply of food since Africa is a net food importer (124): The World Bank estimates that Africa will have a 25% reduction in food imports because of physical distancing restrictions (30). Several countries, including Cambodia, Vietnam, and India, that supply African countries with key foods have either closed their borders or reduced food export (39).

Fourth, last mile supply of food will be severely disrupted by closures of local food markets: This will be especially severe given that informal food supply chains are the cornerstone of the supply of food in Africa. For instance, about 95% of Nigeria's and 90% of Kenya's population buy food from informal markets (125,126).

Fifth, the combined disruptions in local production and imports, as well as local distribution will cause price fluctuations (127): While international food prices appear stable(128), there are indications of fluctuations of local food prices. For example, the average cost of food in Ghana has increased by 8%. On the other hand, exports crops have seen a reduction in prices with for instance the price of cashew nut in Ghana dropping by 63%.

The combination of these factors on the food system threatens food security with disproportionate impacts borne by vulnerable populations in Africa: The poor (and especially urban poor), those living in informal settlements, internally displaced camps, and refugee camps will be especially affected. For instance, the disruption of humanitarian supply chains will impact on the distribution of foods to humanitarian settings such as refugee camps (121). It is reported that refugees in Kenya's Kakuma refugee camp are experiencing challenges with food availability (129), while surveys in informal settlements in Kenya and Senegal have reported decreased access to food by informal settlement residents because of physical distancing restrictions (40,130). Households may suffer from reduced access to healthy, nutritious food and experience increased hunger and malnutrition at the household level, as food choices narrow and more nutritious, highly perishable foods become scarce (123). Respondents in a survey across 12 African countries reported reducing their food intake because of challenges imposed by physical distancing (52). Also, as most households are energy poor, with most lacking access to potable water, they may resort to the use of less-safe and unhealthy food preparation sources, which may lead to an increase in cases of communicable diseases like cholera, and dysentery.





Inequalities in learning are expected to increase not only across countries, but also between well resourced (mostly urban) and poorly resourced (mostly rural) regions within countries School closures, as a means of enforcing physical distancing, have been implemented in all African countries except for Burundi and Morocco (83). The closure of schools will affect education systems in Africa in several ways.

First, the average level and quality of learning among school-goers will reduce (45,131,132): While the pandemic will have substantial impacts on education systems across the globe, Africa will be disproportionately affected because of pre-existing challenges in education systems and infrastructure required to facilitate remote learning (45,132,133).

Second, existing inequalities in access to education and learning outcomes will increase: Inequalities in learning are expected to increase not only across countries, but also between well resourced (mostly urban) and poorly resourced (mostly rural) regions within countries (45). These inequalities will be exacerbated by inadequate and unequal capacity to scale remote learning initiatives. Only 23% of SSA countries are currently implementing remote learning (45). Even though nearly two thirds of individuals in SSA have access to a mobile phone, only about 44% have an active subscription with a mobile phone operator (44). Only a third have smartphones, with the rest having basic phones with limited functionality to access online educational materials, and less than 40% have a radio or television (44,46,133). Access to broadband internet is also limited, with only 36% of individuals in LMICs having access to the internet (45,133). For example, 80% of children in Ethiopia have never used the internet (46). Marginalized children in poor households are also more vulnerable and will struggle to access remote learning facilities (134).

Third, the rates of school drop-out will increase: Post-pandemic, school enrolments are likely to drop because of both demand and supply factors. On the supply side, financial challenges faced during the pandemic might lead to some school closures, reducing access to schooling. On the demand side, the economic challenges faced by poor households may force children to drop out to engage in income generating activities (131). A report on West Africa and the Sahel reveals that children in poor households face a higher risk of neglect, abuse, and exploitation, and they, especially girls are more likely to drop out (134).

Fourth, children will be at an increased risk of hunger: Many students rely on meals provided by schools for nutrition therefore closures are likely to lead to undernutrition (135). In LMICs, about half the number of school going children depend on food provided at school for their nutritional requirements(136). For instance, it has been reported that nearly 9 million children are at the risk of facing hunger in South Africa after a lockdown was implemented (137).

Fifth, social isolation: Students may lose contact with their peers and miss out on interactions that are essential for their growth and development.

Against this background, measures that are solely reliant on technology are inadequate in ensuring the continuity of learning in Africa (46).



Disease epidemics and responses to contain them have gendered impacts (138): Gendered impacts of physical distancing are interwoven through all the other multi-sectoral impacts already discussed. While men have a higher risk of severe COVID-19 disease(55,56), women and girls are disproportionately affected by the socio-economic impacts of COVID-19.

First, women in African countries bear the burden of unpaid care work and domestic responsibilities (138): This is likely to be exacerbated during the COVID-19 pandemic – compounded by current school closures - due to gendered norms around caring responsibilities including care of children, the sick and the elderly (50,138,139). These gendered roles also impact on girls' learning during the current period of school closures, as they are required to assist with caring and domestic responsibilities and subsequently have less time for home-schooling (50). COVID-19 related school closures will disproportionately and adversely impact on girls in the African context where already girls have lower school completion rates compared to boys (50).

Second, physical distancing measures will increase the incidence of gender-based violence in Africa (49,109,138): In the Rift Valley region of Kenya, a non-profit NGO reported 40 cases of GBV in one month since COVID-19 restrictions were instituted; which was more than the number of cases that they dealt with in the entire 2019 (109). Similarly, in South Africa, a total of 2320 complaints of GBV were reported to police during the first week of a total lockdown (140). This was 37% higher than the weekly average of GBV cases reported to police in 2019. Adolescent girls in particular, face increased risk of physical and sexual abuse

both from their peers and older men - sometimes resulting in unintended pregnancies – which in turn prevent girls from returning to school post-pandemic (50). In Sierra Leone for example, during the Ebola crisis, some communities reported a 65% increase in adolescent pregnancy, directly attributed to girls being away from the protective environment that schools provided (50). This increase in cases is even more concerning in African settings where GBV support services are either very weak or non-existent; and affected individuals are cut off from their traditional support systems such as extended family and friends as a result of the movement restrictions. In Kenya for example, although there is a national GBV helpline, there is no single shelter or safehouse (countrywide) where survivors of violence can go to seek temporary protection.

Third, women are disproportionately represented in the informal economy: Movement restrictions also disproportionately have an adverse economic impact on women who are over-represented in the informal economy such as small-scale trade in open-air markets and domestic paid work [1, 3, 5]. This increases their vulnerability to increased poverty particularly for female-headed households, and in the context of minimal or absent social protection services. For instance, a survey in Kenya revealed that women living in informal settlements were more affected by increased time doing chores (67% vs 51% of men), and complete income or employment loss compared to men (130). In contexts of already extreme poverty and economic vulnerabilities, this can result in forced early marriages where families marry off daughters in the hope of gaining economic and other protection as was observed in Ebola affected countries such as Sierra Leone (50).



5:6 Impacts on Populations Living in Informal Settlements and Forced Displacement Camps

Africa is home to 25%, 26%, and 40% of the worlds informal settlement, refugee camp, and internally displaced population respectively (141–143). For instance, 90% of the urban population in the Central Africa Republic, South Sudan, and Chad live in informal settlements (35).

Individuals and households that live in informal settlements and forced displacement camps, and the homeless are especially vulnerable because of poor living conditions: Their living conditions are characterized by small crowded homes, and they often have to share basic amenities like water and toilets that are located outside, making it impractical to observe physical distance (144–149). For example, 25% of households interviewed in urban informal settlements in Kenya report not having a water source in their house (130). In Kakuma refugee camp in Kenya, a single room accommodates as many as 6 people. Houses are very adjacent to each other and early every morning all refugees go and fetch water, and every 50 or 100 houses share the same water tub (129,150).

These households are also economically vulnerable: They are poor and work in the informal sector earning daily wages (151). For example, in Kenya, a recent survey of urban informal settlements found that 4 out of 5 individuals reported loss of income because of physical distancing measures implemented by the Kenyan government (130).

Imposing stringent physical distancing to these vulnerable groups threatens their lives and livelihoods: measures such as lockdowns, curfews, and work from home directives in these contexts are not only infeasible, but also threatens the livelihoods of these populations (152). For instance, South Africa's lockdown has been met by food protests from informal sector populations (93). In Nigeria, individuals living in urban slums in Lagos report defying physical distancing directives because of income losses (153).

5.7: Impact on Other Vulnerable Populations

In addition to the poor and marginalized (including the homeless, those living in informal settlements, and forced displacement camps), women and girls, health and social economic impacts of stringent physical distancing measures also disproportionately impact other vulnerable groups such the youth (17), people with chronic diseases (154), elderly (18), and the disabled (19). The youth are disproportionately vulnerable to closure of schools, and job losses. People with chronic diseases such as diabetes, hypertension are especially vulnerable to health system supply chain disruptions and challenges accessing healthcare facilities because they need regular follow up clinic visits, and prescription refills (154). Older people are likely to have more healthcare needs and hence face greater challenges accessing healthcare services (18). The old also require greater support for self-care and to carry out routine activities. Physical distancing measures may separate them from their caregivers and discourage people from offering help that requires close physical contact (18). People with disabilities are likely to face several challenges including, reduced support from

caregivers and other individuals when it requires proximity and/or physical contact (19). It may be challenging for disabled people that need more regular help with regular self-care activities to selfisolate or observe 2 mitre distance with others (19). Some disabled individuals such as those with impaired visual and hearing may be excluded from health information and communication, as well as remote learning (19). For example, disabled people in Kenya have complained about the inability to get assistance such as pushing of wheelchairs and helping them to get into public transport, access the daily Ministry of Health press briefings on COVID-19 when the cameras are zoomed in on the person giving the briefing and excluding the sign language interpreter, and challenges with remote learning for children with visual and hearing disabilities because of lack of assistive devices such as Braille paper and Braille readers at home, and sign language interpreters or online classes (21). The panic and chaos because of people rushing to beat curfews in Kenya also disorient the disabled and puts them a great physical harm (21).

6: COUNTRY CASE STUDIES



Context: Despite upper middle income status, South Africa has a high poverty incidence, with 49% of the population living below the poverty line (155), and a significant proportion of South African households (35%) depending on social grants (156–158). The country is characterized by extreme inequality, with specific groups such as black africans, women, disabled people and non-urban dwellers disproportionately disadvantaged (159–161). It is estimated that over 40% of South Africa's urban population live in townships, which are low income historically black-only neighbourhoods set up to enforce racial segregation during the apartheid era (162,163). Further, over 20% of the population lives in informal settlements (162). For instance, about 73% of people in Johannesburg live in either townships or informal settlements (162). The country has the highest numbers of COVID-19 cases in Africa as at the time of writing this (just over 10000 cases).

COVID-19 response: The South African government has established several governance structures to coordinate the response to COVID-19 that included an inter-ministerial COVID-19 committee, a national command council, and an emergency operations center (164). Early on in the outbreak, infections were driven by social gatherings such as funerals and church services (11,165). The government has, with progressive adaptations and to varying degrees, put in place several measures that include 1) a national state of disaster, and a lockdown 2) closed its borders and banned international travel 3) closure of schools, 4) ban on gatherings of more than 100 people, later reduced to 50 people, 5) targeted testing for people that travelled from high risk countries 6) shut-down of 35 land ports and sea ports 7) ban on non-essential travel by government officials, and 8) ban on prison visits (166). Further, self-isolation for high risk persons (those with comorbidities and the elderly) is encouraged, and measures such as 1.5 meter distancing in facilities, physical distancing in public and private transport, and curfews are being enforced (167). The country has a risk adjusted strategy with five restriction levels for movement and economic activity, with 5 being the most stringent (168).

Physical distancing experiences: While South Africa's economy was already in recession, it is expected to contract further because

of COVID-19 (169,170). High levels of poverty and, informal labour markets, and overcrowding in informal settlements have posed challenges to the South Africa's lockdown restrictions, with reports of violations of lockdowns early on (171). Lockdown enforcement by the national defence forces and the police have been characterized by excessive force with 15% of respondents in a recent survey reporting being treated badly by law enforcement (172). Poverty and hunger have increased since the lockdown sparking food protests (170,173). Violence against women and children have increased, with 90,000 cases reported in the second week of the lockdown (174).

Several measures have been undertaken by the South African government, non-government stakeholders, and community groups to mitigate the adverse effects of physical distancing. For example, the government is cushioning distressed businesses and workers through the Unemployment Insurance Fund (UIF) and providing tax subsidies for workers with incomes below a certain threshold (175). Further, vulnerable families are receiving a higher social grant for 6 months and a Covid-19 grant was also created to cover unemployed workers that do not receive grants (175,176). A solidarity fund has been established that ,among others, supports the setting up of shelters for the homeless and the distribution of food to the vulnerable (41). The government is also implementing the "re-blocking" or de-densification of informal settlements (177). Further, to sustain supply of essentials and food to low income residents, municipalities have allowed informal markets to operate (178), and some of these informal traders have been relocated to facilitate physical distancing (35). An additional important feature of South Africa's response is the emergence of community groups organizing at the local level to provide support to communities. For instance, the Community Action Network (CAN) that originated in Cape Town (Cape Town together) and has now spread to other parts of the country (Eastern Cape Together, Gauteng Together) is comprised of a network of decentralized, autonomous selforganizing neighbourhood groups that are solving challenges using local solutions. Among others, CANs are organizing food kitchens for the vulnerable, food programs for children that are out of school, and addressing stigma, fear, and misinformation (13,14).



Context: An estimated 36% of Kenyans live below the national poverty line, and 83% of the employed individuals work in the informal sector (179). Kenya is home to one of largest informal settlements in Africa, Kibera, as well as other informal settlements and 2 main refugee camps (Dadaab and Kakuma) with a combined population of about 500,000 individuals(129,150). The first reported case of COVID-19 in Kenya was on 13th March 2020 and at the time of writing, this, the country has slightly over 700 confirmed cases. Modelling estimates predict about 2% of the population could eventually be symptomatically infected (180).

COVID-19 response: Kenya has set up several coordinating and governance structures that include the inter-ministerial National Emergency Response Council (NERC), and the MOH COVID-19, and the COVID-19 emergency operations center (EOC)(2). The country has implemented a range of mitigation measures that include the suspension of international travel, the closure of schools, bars and nightclubs, banning of meetings including religious meetings, social gatherings, political rallies and sporting events, a night time curfew, and movement restrictions in Nairobi and coastal counties, and two within county residential estates that are transmission hotspots – Eastleigh in Nairobi county, and Old Town in Mombasa county (2,10,181).

Physical distancing experiences: The implementation of physical distancing measures in Kenya presented several challenges. There are reports of people missing essential healthcare services such as ANC visits and deliveries because of movement restrictions, night time curfews, and closure of some health facilities outpatient services (2,182). Individuals living in informal settlements and refugee camps have expressed concerns about their ability to observe physical distancing because of shared water and sanitary facilities, and overcrowded neighbourhoods (129,182). The country's GDP growth rate projection for 2020 has been revised to 1% down from 5-6%, while 130000 job losses have been reported as at the end of April 2020 because of COVID-19 (183,184). Job losses, restricted movements and stay at home advisories have threatened the food security of individuals in the informal economy, and refugee camps with reports of households going hungry because of inability to buy food (129,185).

The Kenyan government, in collaboration with other stakeholders, has implemented several measures to mitigate against these effects.

Unlike other countries, Kenya has not gone into a full lock down. Rather, the country has opted for a combination of night time curfews, and movement restrictions in transmission hot spots (2,10). Initially, cessation of movement into and out of Nairobi and coastal counties was imposed after these counties were identified as hotspots. This was later extended to Eastleigh and Old Town, residential estates in Nairobi and Mombasa respectively. Also, rather than issuing a blanket work from home directive, the government has opted to target protecting the vulnerable by requiring public officers older than 58 years, and those with comorbidities to take leave from work, and encouraging the private sector to do the same. The government is also implementing an economic stimulus program that includes direct and indirect cash subsidies for citizens, as well as a cash transfer program for the poor, the elderly and the disabled, and a food distribution program among the vulnerable communities (10). This cash transfer program uses mobile money transfer to minimize transmission through physical cash exchange and to improve efficiency of transfers. The government also plans to support youths living in informal settlements that have been rendered unemployed by COVID-19 by providing them with a daily income support (37). Kenya has also taken measures to keep the informal economy open, by for example allowing informal markets, and businesses such as barber shops and salons to remain open, and public transport to operate while providing physical distancing guidance to these businesses. The government, private education stakeholders, and media houses are implementing and facilitating remote learning through the internet, TV, radio, and social media platforms. This is however riddled with inequities due to lack of hardware, internet connectivity, and/or power among students from low income households including in refugee camps(129,150). In addition to government action, community organizations are playing a key role to support vulnerable populations. For instance, Kenya mutual aid, a grassroots organization is mobilizing community groups in Nairobi and Mombasa to identify vulnerable groups, crowdsource funds, and purchase and distribute food to these households (15,16). Another community organization, Ghetto foundation, set up by a group of young people in Mathare informal settlement in Nairobi is identifying vulnerable individuals in and sending them cash transfers via mobile money transfer (15,16), while Shinning Hope For Communities (SHOFCO), has established toilets, clean water kiosks, and hand washing stations in Kibera informal settlement (15).





The government and stakeholders are implementing a range of mitigation measures. Rather than a full lockdown. the country has opted for a dusk to dawn curfew. The government has further allowed public transport to continue operating, and provided guidance for physical distancing that include ensuring that they are filled to half capacity (196-198).

Context: Like other African countries. Senegal has a high proportion of its citizens living below the poverty line (47%) (186) and a predominantly informal labour market (92%) (187,188). About 40% of the urban population in Senegal live in informal settlements(189). Urban areas are characterized by high population densities; for instance, Dakar covers 0.3% of Senegal's land mass but has 23% of the country's population including informal settlements (190). The high population density in Dakar, estimated at 6,637 inhabitants/km against the national estimate of 84 inhabitants/km makes physical distancing challenging to implement (190). The first reported case of COVID-19 in Senegal was on 2nd March 2020 (191). At the time of writing this there were slightly over 1,800 cases.

COVID-19 response: The COVID-19 response in Senegal is coordinated by the National epidemics management committee which is also responsible for the implementation of the country's National COVID-19 Response Plan (192). Mitigation measures implemented by the government include 1) the closure of learning institutions, 2) banning of public gatherings, 3) closure of the country's borders, 4) decongestion of prisons 5) a state of emergency that, among other restricts movement across regions and a nationwide curfew (193–199). Authority has also been given to local government leads to make decisions about the containment of COVID-19, which has led to localized and targeted lockdowns (200,201).

Physical distancing experiences: It is estimated

that Senegal's economic growth (GDP) will slow down from 6% to 3% because of COVID-19 (202). A survey of early experiences with COVID-19 found that an estimated 87% respondents had lost income, and the number of people reporting a reduction in meal size had sharply increased (40). The survey also reported a substantial increase in the price of food (40). While schools are implementing remote learning, 30% of children reported not participating in any learning activities highlighting significant differences in access to remote learning platforms (40). There are also challenges with compliance of physical distancing guidelines with some transport companies not complying with the inter-regional movement restrictions (203,204).

The government and stakeholders are implementing a range of mitigation measures. Rather than a full lockdown, the country has opted for a dusk to dawn curfew. The government has further allowed public transport to continue operating, and provided guidance for physical distancing that include ensuring that they are filled to half capacity (196–198). A solidarity fund, FORCE-COVID, has been established (205). The government is also implementing a social protection program that includes tax reductions for firms to keep their workforce(175), and a food distribution programme targeting 1 million households (175,206). To cushion households, the government is implementing a program to pay for the water and electricity bills of vulnerable households (175,207).

7: KEY RECOMMENDATIONS

The recommendations outlined here are based on the recognition that while stringent physical distancing measures are expected to have a positive impact on the reduction of COVID-19 transmission, they are also likely to have substantial negative health and socio-economic impacts. These negative impacts are likely to be greater in African countries because of a range of vulnerabilities. African countries therefore need to consider the broader net benefit of measures that they choose to implement and they need to adapt and localize their response to align with the contextual realities of the continent, and to optimize expected benefits of physical distancing, while minimizing the undesired impacts. In considering these recommendations, governments will need to take into account the risks associated with each measure and their feasibility, including financial feasibility and implementation capacity, suitability and acceptability, to their specific contexts.

7.1: Cross-Cutting Recommendations

Where feasible, governments should consider:

Adapting physical distancing measures: Adapt physical distancing measures that minimize the negative health, and social-economic impacts of restrictions. Table 2 outlines examples of physical distancing adaptations that have been employed by African countries.

Table 6:Adaptations to physical distancing measures

Physical distancing adaptations	Examples of Countries that have implemented the adaptation
Imposing of dusk to dawn curfews or partial lockdowns rather than full lock downs	Kenya, Senegal
Staggered introduction of physical distancing measures	Kenya, Senegal
Risk based movement restrictions rather than blanket restrictions across the country. For instance, in Kenya, movement restrictions have been imposed in transmission hotspots - Nairobi, and coastal counties, and a residential neighbourhood in Nairobi and Mombasa, rather than the entire country (2)	Kenya, Ghana, Nigeria
Keeping the informal economy operational – allowing food markets and small-scale traders to operate with measures to reduce physical distance such as reducing the number of traders and customers, relocating traders to decongest markets, and hygiene	Kenya, South Africa
"Temporal distancing"(3) – opening markets on specific days and times of the week, and closing them on other days and times. For instance, in Nigeria, markets are open on specific days of the week, and for a shorter time on the open days	Nigeria
Allowing public transport to operate with guidelines reduce carrying capacity, space out seating, and hand hygiene	Ghana, Nigeria, Kenya, Senegal

Augmenting adapted measures to minimize risks: Less stringent physical distancing measures may come with risks of increased transmissions. Options for minimizing risk include:

- Where possible, ramping up active case finding, testing, and isolation. This may however not be feasible in countries with severe financial constraints, and because of supply chain challenges for testing reagents.
- Advising the public to wear (cloth based) face masks in public spaces (4). The availability and affordability of face masks at scale may be a challenge.
- Setting minimum capacity and spatial proximity requirements in public spaces such as markets, shops, and public transport. There are several examples where business have used innovative approaches such as using paint to draw spots where people can stand while queuing in shops.
- Setting guidelines for promoting hand hygiene for businesses and communities such as washing or sanitizing hands. Challenges that will need to be addressed include availability of clean water, soap, or hand sanitizers.
- For instance, instead of a full lockdown, Ghana implemented a partial lockdown backed by aggressive testing and contact tracing. It is worth noting however that Ghana has greater capacity for testing compared to most other African countries. Ghana, Kenya, and several other countries have implemented disinfection programs in informal markets that have been left to operate(5), and provide water and other sanitary facilities to markets and informal settlements (6).

Contextualizing physical distancing practices: Engage communities to find out how to localize physical distancing measures and communicate risk effectively in ways that will enhance acceptance and compliance (7).

• For instance, the COVID-19 taskforce in Nigeria has a cultural arm that uses cultural messaging and comedy to reinforce physical distancing interventions (8)

Shielding high risk population groups: Shielding entails identifying and isolating high risk populating groups to protect them from infection. Shielding could take various forms (9). It could involve requiring elderly persons and/ or persons with comorbidities that increase the risk of COVID-19 severity to self-isolate or stay at home while low risk groups can go to work.

• For instance, the Kenyan government has asked public servants above the age of 58 to take paid leave and advised the private sector to do the same (10), while the South African government has advised the elderly to shield (11). Shielding should also be considered in forced displacement camps where a separate section of the camp, "a green zone", could be set up and high risk groups relocated there temporarily and so they have minimal contact with the rest of the camp residents (9).

• The feasibility of shielding may however meet with resistance and become infeasible to implement. Therefore shielding approaches should be designed in consultation with communities to ensure that they are culturally appropriate and gain acceptance (9).

Leveraging on community structures and networks: Work with and leverage on community structures, local leaders, respected individuals in the local societies, religious organizations etc to engage communities to enhance compliance of physical distancing measures.

• For instance, in Ethiopia, the international organization of migration (IOM) is working with local community leaders to enhance the awareness of communities about risks and prevention measures (12).

Facilitating bottom up community responses: Facilitate and enable bottom-up, community driven initiatives to support communities to cope with the health and socioeconomic effects of restrictions.

• **Examples** of such networks include the community action networks (CANs) in South Africa (13,14), and community based organizations like Mutual Aid and Ghetto foundation in Kenya that are helping communities with initiatives such as cash transfers and food distribution (15,16)

Consult and engage with vulnerable populations: Engage with vulnerable groups to co-produce health, social, and economic responses to COVID-19. This will enhance the sensitivity of these responses to their specific vulnerabilities (17–20).

Make the dissemination of COVID-19 information disability inclusive: This could include the use of sign language interpreters when making announcements, during briefings and other communication, and distributing braille versions of information, education, and communication materials (21).

Monitoring and responding: Set up mechanisms to regularly monitor the multi-dimensional impact of physical distancing restrictions to inform timely responses (7). This could include periodically conducting community surveys by leveraging on and working with a network of existing academic and research institutions. It should also include a resident feedback mechanism by setting up a toll-free call center to receive information about citizen experiences, including reporting about human rights violations by security forces.

7.3: Recommendations to Mitigate the Impacts on the Health Sector

Where feasible, governments should consider:

Identifying essential services to be prioritized for continuity of service delivery: Map and identify essential health services and those most susceptible to disruptions and put in place measures to ensure continued availability and access of these services. These measures could include(22):

- Active communication and outreach to engage with citizens about the importance of these services, and their availability under the physical distancing period, and reassure them of their safety should they need to seek care.
- Develop priority lists of essential supplies, stock-pile and pre-position supplies at the national and regional and local levels, and network supplies and redistribute supplies to mitigate supply chain disruptions (22,23).
- Ensure healthcare facilities remain open to provide essential healthcare services (24).
- Provide transportation to healthcare facilities for patients needing very essential services.
 - For instance, the City of Nairobi in collaboration with health stakeholders such as Amref and taxi platform company Bolt are providing free transportation for expectant mothers to hospital for delivery.

Leveraging on technology: Explore innovative models of care such as telemedicine to enhance continuity of care

for services that are amenable to remote consultations. For example Kenya has outlined a plan to establish tele call centers to facilitate continuity of provision of reproductive, maternal, and child health services (24). However, digital technologies carry the risk of exacerbating existing inequalities in access to healthcare services because the poor, those in rural areas, and other vulnerable groups are less likely to have access to digital technologies. For these groups measures to maintain physical access to healthcare services could be explored.

Leverage on community health workers: Leverage on community health workers to deliver essential health services to communities and households (25,26). While this will likely improve the pro-poorness of mitigation measures, it carries the risk of transmission because of physical contact between community health workers and households. Measures to reduce these risks include equipping community health workers with personal protective equipment and ensuring hand hygiene is observed during household visits.

Facilitating health worker movement in contexts of movement restrictions: Most African countries have designated health workers as essential frontline workers and provided them with exceptions to move around in places where lockdowns, curfews, and movement restrictions have been imposed. However, the enforcement of these exceptions should be monitored given reports from several African countries that health workers are finding it difficult to get to work and citizens cannot access care (27,28).

7.4: Recommendations to Mitigate Economic Impacts

Where feasible, governments should consider:

Cushioning firms providing essential services: Providing targeted subsidies to firms that provide essential services such as healthcare, electricity, water, agriculture and food production, and communication. For instance, subsidies to telecommunication companies will enable them to support access to cheaper mobile money transactions, and data to enhance the efficiency of employees working from home.

• For instance, the South African government is providing financial support to local firms that are providing essential service in the form of credit facilities at subsidized interest rates (29).

Supporting vulnerable groups: Implement social protection programmes targeted at vulnerable segments of the population especially the poor, those in the informal sector, and people living in informal settlements and forced displacement camps. These include indirect tax reductions, and cash transfers leveraging on the efficiency of mobile money transfers (30–34), waivers for basic services such as electricity, water, money transfer transactions, and moratoriums on individual loan repayments.

• For instance, the government of Togo is providing cash support to low income residents of its capital Lome (9) while Kenya, Nigeria, and South Africa are scaling up existing cash transfer programmes to vulnerable households leveraging on mobile money transfer platforms (35). Ghana is helping households by paying their water bills (36).

Providing income support to individuals that lose their jobs: Provide income support and temporary employment to low income and informal sector employers who lose their jobs because of physical distancing restrictions.

• For example, Kenya is providing a daily income

supplement to more than 10,000 youths living in Nairobi's informal settlements in exchange for labour such as disinfecting markets (37). The government of Botswana is contributing to 50% of the salary of furloughed citizens, and providing a subsidy of between USD 80-170 per month to meet their basic needs (15).

Integrate a focus on the vulnerable in socioeconomic responses: Identify the vulnerable– the old, the elderly, women, the poor, the youth, and those with chronic conditions, and specifically target them with social protection measures such as income support (17–20).

Ensuring pro-poorness of interventions: Align financial aid with the realities of vulnerable and marginalized populations. Reductions in direct taxes are unlikely to benefit the poor and those living in informal settlements or encampments. On the other hand, reductions in informal taxes, and direct cash transfers would.

Providing financial support to small informal businesses: Provide liquidity support to SME. These include reduced bank loan interest rates, moratoriums on SME loan repayments, relief from business taxes, and specific financial subsidies to allow them to keep and continue to pay staff

• For instance, Botswana is providing a wage subsidy to SME's as an incentive to retain their staff during the lockdown (15).

Debt repayment moratoriums: Multi-lateral and bilateral lenders should consider suspending debt repayments by African countries to provide temporary debt relief to support macroeconomic stability in the region(30,38). Debt relief will boost liquidity and expand the fiscal space of African countries, boosting their capacity to absorb the economic shocks due to COVID-19 (30,38).

7.5: Recommendations to Mitigate Food Security Impacts

Where feasible, governments should consider:

Monitoring access to food and food prices: In collaboration with other local and international organizations, establish mechanisms for the assessment of supply chains and food markets, availability and access to food, and fluctuations of food prices.

Keeping trade corridors open: In collaboration with regional, and international organizations, foster cooporation to maintain trade corridors for agricultural inputs and food imports and exports (30). This may however carry the risk of cross-border movement of infected individuals. Mitigating measure could include border screening and testing where feasible.

Keep food supply chains functioning: Designate workers involved in food supply chains such as transporters as essential frontline workers and enforce movement restriction exceptions for agricultural inputs, produce, and these frontline workers. This will sustain the logistical operations of local food supply chains (39).

Provide income support to vulnerable groups: This could take the form of cash transfers to vulnerable and food insecure households leveraging on mobile money to improve the efficiency of disbursement and reduction of physical contact. Cash transfers will facilitate the purchase of food

where markets are still operational and minimize market distortions.

■ Implement food distribution programs to the vulnerable: Protect vulnerable populations such as the poor, the elderly, individuals living in informal settlement, refugee camps, internally displaced populations, and the homeless by providing and distributing food to households. Several African governments, including South Africa, Senegal, Uganda are implementing food distribution programs to the vulnerable in the community (40–42).

Sustain existing humanitarian and social protection programs: While COVID-19 will require scaling up existing humanitarian and social protection programs, it is important to maintain and sustain existing programs to avoid disruption.

Set up public food kitchens: Designate particular food retail outlets as public kitchens. Households could be provided with e-vouchers to purchase fresh, cooked food daily. The e-voucher system would help ensure that the micro-economy of these communities is sustained, while creating market incentives for food chains to keep running.

• For example, the opening up of food kitchens in several townships in South Africa that have remained open during the lockdown is reported to have helped vulnerable families in these neighbourhoods (43).

7.6: Recommendations to Mitigate Education Impacts

Where feasible, governments should consider:

Implementing equity responsive remote learning: Implement remote learning programs using multiple rather than single platforms to ensure reach is optimized. The selection of platforms should consider reach, and equity implications. For instance, more people have radio's compared to TVs in Africa, and more people have basic phones compared to smart phones (44–46).

Distributing paper based learning materials to those that need them: Implement arrangements to make paper based learning material physically available in low income areas with poor access to remote learning platforms (internet, radio, TV) by delivering a basic package of learning materials, including books and writing materials to households (32).

Implement targeted outreach to disadvantaged groups: Implement targeted outreach and support to students and parents/guardians to enhance uptake of remote learning (44–46).

Training and supporting teachers: Train teachers on remote learning approaches and equipping them with the resources required to implement these approaches (e.g. hardware, software, internet access) (32,44–46).

Adapting curricula: Adapt curricula to enhance feasibility

and effectiveness of remote learning. This includes simplifying curricula to prioritize areas that are most consequential for learning progression in the coming school year(46).

Implementing food programs for vulnerable children: Introducing community food programs for children to replace school food programs and ensure that the nutritional needs of children are still met (32).

Make learning accessible to people with disabilities: consider delivering remote learning in ways that are accessible to the disabled. This includes including sign language interpreters in online learning, and districting braille paper and braille readers at home (21).

Focusing on the vulnerable: Finally, all these interventions should pay special attention to the poor, the marginalized and the vulnerable. For instance, pay attention to children from poor and marginalized households (e.g. those living in rural areas, informal settlements, refugee camps), girls that are more likely to taken on huge burdens of domestic duties, boys who are most likely to drop out of school to take up income generating activities, and cohorts transitioning between schooling levels (primary to secondary, and secondary to college). This includes raising awareness and sensitizing communities on the need to protect these children and support them to continue with home learning.

7.7: Recommendations to Mitigate the Gendered Impacts

Where feasible, governments should consider:

Tackling gender-based violence: Institute multi-agency coordinated responses to tackle gender-based violence. These include:

- Establishing national toll-free helplines (with the required infrastructure to sustain these numbers) (47).
- Establishing shelters and safehouses, specialized (free) emergency medical and police services. This would also include successful mental health, social and legal services (48).

Implementing gender-responsive social protection programs: The social protection measures implemented to cushion households from the socio-economic impacts of restrictions should be gender-responsive by paying special attention to the vulnerabilities and disproportionate effects on women (49).

Paying attention to educational needs and challenges of girls: Given the gender-specific risks of school closures, education responses could prioritize the needs of girls and particularly adolescent girls. This requires a community approach that includes all necessary stakeholders such as the youth (to ensure youth-friendly messaging); and leverages on teachers and community members to raise awareness and sensitize communities on the need to protect girls and support

them to continue with home learning.

 For instance, in the context of Ebola, in countries such as Sierra Leone, villages that established 'girls clubs' (i.e. safe spaces) where girls could go to during school closures, reported that fewer girls experienced adverse effects and were more likely to continue their learning (50).

7.8: Recommendations to Mitigate the Impacts on Populations Living in Informal Settlements and Forced Displacements

Where feasible, governments should consider:

- **Stopping forceful evictions:** Forcefully evicting individuals living in informal settlements, or those that are internally displaced puts them at an even greater risk of contracting COVID-19. In addition to declaring a stop to forceful evictions, governments should allocate resources to implement, monitor and prevent extrajudicial evictions (51).
- **Improving housing and living conditions:** Improve access to water and sanitation amenities in informal settlements and forced displacement encampments. In the short term, this includes supplying water with water tankers, drilling boreholes, and building toilets.
- For instance, the Kenyan government has installed hand washing stations, and distributed soap in informal settlements in Nairobi (52).

Providing shelter for the homeless: Provide shelters to the homeless and move them out of the streets into facilities that will keep them safe.

• For instance, the South African government has set up

shelters for the homeless (53).

Reducing overcrowding: Consider reducing overcrowding in informal settlements by developing new shelters and upgrading the existing ones to improve the quality of housing.

 For instance, the government of Djibouti has provided asylum seekers and refugees with new shelters, while the Somali government has upgraded shelters in high risk camps for internally displaced populations to reduce congestion (51).

However, the relocation of individuals and households should be done with close consultations with those affected and in a humane way to ensure that the rights and dignity of the individuals are safeguarded.

Keep informal supply chains open: Identify essential services and informal supply chains that serve the residents of informal settlements and forced displacement encampments and keep them operational. These include supply and sale of food, energy, water, and transportation (51).

- Ferguson NM, Laydon D, Nedjati-Gilani G, Imai N, Ainslie K, Baguelin M, et al. Impact of non-pharmaceutical interventions (NPIs) to reduce COVID19 mortality and healthcare demand [Internet]. London; 2020. Report No.: Report number 9. Available from: https://www.imperial.ac.uk/media/imperialcollege/medicine/mrc-gida/2020-03-16-COVID19-Report-9.pdf
- 2. Mwangangi M. COVID-19 Pandemic: Kenya's Experience. COVID-19 Updates. Nairobi; 2020.
- Lee M, Bradshaw CJA, Dalton C. Want to make social distancing even more effective? It's about time (as well as space). The Conversation [Internet].
 2020; Available from: https://theconversation.com/want-to-make-social-distancing-even-more-effective-its-about-time-as-well-as-space-134551
- Greenhalgh T, Schmid MB, Czypionka T, Bassler D, Gruer L. Face masks for the public during the covid-19 crisis Trisha Greenhalgh and colleagues argue that it is time to apply the precautionary principle. BMJ [Internet]. 2020;1435(April):1–4. Available from: https://www.bmj.com/content/bmj/369/bmj. m1435.full.pdf
- 5. Aklorbortu P. Coronavirus: 1,300 sprayers assigned to disinfect 137 markets in Accra. 2020 Mar 23; Available from: https://www.msn.com/en-xl/africa/ ghana/coronavirus-1300-sprayers-assigned-to-disinfect-137-markets-in-accra/ar-BB11zkTl
- 6. Nabila E. COVID-19: 3months Free Water For All Ghanaians Begins. Morden Ghana [Internet]. 2020 Apr 9; Available from: https://www.modernghana. com/news/994578/covid-19-3months-free-water-for-all-ghanaians.html
- 7. PERC. Responding to COVID-19 in Africa: Using data to find a balance [Internet]. Addis Ababa; 2020. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/report/world/ responding-covid-19-africa-using-data-find-balance
- 8. Ayeni T. How Nigeria is faring nearly two weeks into COVID-19 lockdown. The African Report [Internet]. 2020 Apr 10; Available from: https://www. theafricareport.com/25998/how-nigeria-is-doing-nearly-two-weeks-into-the-covid-19-lockdown/
- Jayaram K, Leke A, Ooko-Ombaka A, Sun YS. Finding Africa's path: Shaping bold solutions to save lives and livelihoods in the COVID-19 crisis [Internet]. Johanesberg; 2020. Available from: https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/McKinsey/Featured Insights/Middle East and Africa/Finding Africas path Shaping bold solutions to save lives and livelihoods in the COVID 19 crisis/Finding-Africas-path-vF.ashx
- 10. Ministry of Health. Presidential Guidelines to Manage the spread of COVID-19. Nairobi, Kenya; 2020.
- 11. The Presidency of South Africa. President Cyril Ramaphosa: South Africa's response to Coronavirus COVID-19 pandemic [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 28]. Available from: http://www.thepresidency.gov.za/
- 12. Africa Renewal. Local leaders mobilised to fight against COVID-19 in Ethiopia. Africa Renewal [Internet]. 2020 Apr 28; Available from: https://www.un.org/ africarenewal/news/coronavirus/local-leaders-mobilised-fight-against-covid-19-ethiopia
- Whyle E, Ryneveld M van, Brady L, Radeb K. Sparks, flames and blazes: Epidemiological and social firefighting for Covid-19 [Internet]. Daily Maverick. 2020 [cited 2020 May 5]. Available from: https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/article/2020-04-24-sparks-flames-and-blazes-epidemiological-and-social-firefighting-for-covid-19/
- 14. Brady L, Notywala A, Ryklief A, Swartbooi N, Ryneveld M van, Whyle E. The power of people caring for those affected by Covid-19 [Internet]. Maverick Citizen. 2020 [cited 2020 May 5]. Available from: https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/article/2020-04-13-the-power-of-people-caring-for-those-affected-by-covid-19/
- 15. Africa Center for Strategic Studies. African Adaptations to the COVID-19 Response [Internet]. Washington; 2020. Available from: https://africacenter.org/ spotlight/african-adaptations-to-the-covid-19-response/
- 16. Zhu A. Briefing: Five ideas on how to ease the impact of COVID-19 lockdowns in Kenya [Internet]. The New Humanitarian. 2020 [cited 2020 May 6]. Available from: https://www.thenewhumanitarian.org/news/2020/04/06/kenya-coronavirus-lockdowns
- 17. United Nations. Protecting and mobilizing youth in COVID-19 response [Internet]. Nairobi; 2020. Available from: https://www.un.org/development/desa/ youth/wp-content/uploads/sites/21/2020/05/PB_67.pdf
- 18. Nations U. Policy Brief: The impact of COVID-19 on older persons [Internet]. Geneva Switzerland; 2020. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/sites/ reliefweb.int/files/resources/Policy Brief - The impact of COVID-19 on older persons %28May 2020%29.pdf
- 19. United Nations. Policy Brief: A disability-inclusive response to COVID-19 [Internet]. Geneva; 2020. Available from: https://www.un.org/development/desa/ disabilities/wp-content/uploads/sites/15/2020/05/sg_policy_brief_on_persons_with_disabilities_final.pdf
- 20. United Nations. Everyone included: social impact of COVID-19 [Internet]. Everyone Included. 2020 [cited 2020 May 13]. Available from: https://www. un.org/development/desa/dspd/everyone-included-covid-19.html
- 21. Charagu B. Impact Of COVID-19 On Kenyans With Disabilities [Internet]. Open Institute. 2020 [cited 2020 May 14]. Available from: https://openinstitute. com/impact-of-covid-19-on-kenyans-with-disabilities/
- 22. WHO. COVID-19: Operational guidance for maintaining essential health services during an outbreak [Internet]. Geneva; 2020. Available from: file:///C:/ Users/ebarasa/Downloads/WHO-2019-nCoV-essential_health_services-2020.1-eng (2).pdf
- 23. WHO. SOP| Standard Operating Procedure for coordinating public health event preparedness and response in the WHO Africa region [Internet]. Geneva; 2014. Available from: https://www.who.int/hac/techguidance/tools/standard_operating_procedures_african_region_en_2014.pdf
- 24. MOH. Kenya Covid-19 RMNH Guidelines A Kenya practical guide for continuity of Reproductive, Maternal, Newbornand Family Planning Care and Services in the Background of COVID-19 Pandemic [Internet]. Nairobi; 2020. Available from: https://www.health.go.ke/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/ KENYA-COVID19-RMNH.pdf.pdf
- 25. Ndirangu R, Shearer J. Three urgent actions to protect essential health services during COVID-19 [Internet]. PATH. 2020. Available from: https://www.path.org/articles/three-urgent-actions-protect-essential-health-services-during-covid-19/
- 26. WHO. Community-based health care, including outreach and campaigns, in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic [Internet]. Geneva; 2020. Available from: file:///C:/Users/ebarasa/Downloads/WHO-2019-nCoV-Comm_health_care-2020.1-eng.pdf
- 27. Biryabarema E. In Uganda, mothers in labour die amidst coronavirus lockdown. Reuters [Internet]. 2020 Apr; Available from: https://www.reuters.com/

article/us-health-coronavirus-uganda/in-uganda-mothers-in-labour-die-amidst-coronavirus-lockdown-idUSKCN21R2FA

- 28. Ukomadu A, Akwagyiram A. Africa's biggest city Lagos locks down to defend against coronavirus. Reuters [Internet]. 2020 Mar; Available from: https:// www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-nigeria/africas-biggest-city-lagos-locks-down-to-defend-against-coronavirus-idUSKBN2111Z9
- 29. White and Case. COVID-19: South African Government Financial Assistance Measures [Internet]. Publications and events. 2020 [cited 2020 May 5]. Available from: https://www.whitecase.com/publications/alert/covid-19-south-african-government-financial-assistance-measures
- 30. World Bank. Assessing the economic impact of covid-19 and policy responses in Sub-Saharan Africa [Internet]. Washington DC; 2020. Available from: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/33541/9781464815683.pdf?sequence=16
- Osakwe A, Oputa C, Njokanma E, Ebo N, Kareem R, Fela-Durotoye T, et al. Nigeria, Support your small and growing business: SMEs must be priorititized in the governments COVI-19 Interventions [Internet]. Lagos; 2020. Available from: https://guardian.ng/business-services/nigeria-support-your-small-andgrowing-businesses/
- 32. Wijk K van, Itcovitz H, Swinkels C, Miroro O. How COVID-19 affects inequality in Africa [Internet]. INCLUDE. 2020. Available from: https://includeplatform. net/news/how-covid-19-affects-inequality-in-africa/
- 33. Evans D. The Economic Impact of COVID-19 in Africa: A Round-Up of This Week's Analysis [Internet]. Center for Global Development. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 30]. Available from: https://www.cgdev.org/blog/economic-impact-covid-19-africa-weeks-latest-analysis
- Lashitew A. Social distancing unlikely to hold up in Africa without a safety net for microentrepreneurs [Internet]. Brookings. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 29]. Available from: https://www.brookings.edu/blog/africa-in-focus/2020/04/09/social-distancing-unlikely-to-hold-up-in-africa-without-a-safety-net-formicroentrepreneurs/
- 35. Duerksen M. Innovations Needed to Prevent COVID-19 from Catching Fire in African Cities [Internet]. Washington DC; 2020. Available from: https:// africacenter.org/spotlight/innovations-needed-prevent-covid-19-catching-fire-africa-cities/
- 36. BBC. Ghana to pay citizens' water bills, health workers get tax holiday [Internet]. The Citizen. 2020 [cited 2020 May 6]. Available from: https://www. thecitizen.co.tz/news/Ghana-to-pay-citizens--water-bills/1840386-5516640-onc8s8/index.html
- 37. Omulo C, Kimatu S. Covid-19: Nairobi jobless youth to get Sh616 per day for a month. Daily Nation [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://www.nation. co.ke/counties/nairobi/Nairobi-jobless-youth-to-get-Sh616-per-day-for-a-month/1954174-5544044-y0xvidz/index.html
- Okonjo-Iweala N, Coulibaly BS, Thiam T, Kaberuka D, Songwe V, Masiyiwa S, et al. Africa needs debt relief to fight COVID-19 [Internet]. Washington DC; 2020. Available from: https://www.brookings.edu/opinions/africa-needs-debt-relief-to-fight-covid-19/
- 39. George L. COVID-19 is exacerbating food shortages in Africa [Internet]. World Economic Forum. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 30]. Available from: https://www. weforum.org/agenda/2020/04/africa-coronavirus-covid19-imports-exports-food-supply-chains
- 40. Le Nestour A, Mbaye S, Moscoviz L. Phone survey on the Covid crisis in Senegal. 2020.
- 41. Solidarity Fund. Solidarity Fund: Unity in Action [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 May 7]. Available from: https://www.solidarityfund.co.za/
- 42. Africanews. Uganda donates food to vulnerable people during the lockdown [Internet]. Africanews. 2020 [cited 2020 May 5]. Available from: https://www. africanews.com/2020/04/05/uganda-donates-food-to-vulnerable-people-during-lockdown/
- 43. Kiva M. South Africa: COVID-19 George Residents Thankful for Its Many Soup Kitchens. All Africa [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://allafrica.com/ stories/202004070769.html
- 44. EdTech. Five things to think about for out-of-school learning during the coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak [Internet]. THE EDTECH HUB. 2020 [cited 2020 May 1]. Available from: https://edtechhub.org/2020/03/24/five-things-out-of-school-learning-during-the-coronavirus-outbreak/
- 45. Vegas E. School closures, government responses, and learning inequality around the world during COVID-19 [Internet]. Washington DC; 2020. Available from: https://www.brookings.edu/research/school-closures-government-responses-and-learning-inequality-around-the-world-during-covid-19/
- 46. Mundy K, Hares S. Equity-Focused Approaches to Learning Loss during COVID-19 [Internet]. Center for Global Development. Washington DC; 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 29]. Available from: https://www.cgdev.org/blog/equity-focused-approaches-learning-loss-during-covid-19
- 47. Newberry JA, Mahadevan S, Gohil N, Jamshed R, Prajapati J, Ramana GR, et al. Using an emergency response infrastructure to help women who experience gender-based violence in Gujarat, India. Bull World Heal Organ [Internet]. 2016;94:388–92. Available from: https://www.who.int/bulletin/volumes/94/5/15-163741/en/
- 48. UNFPA. Survivors of gender-based violence need access to services in times of crisis, especially during COVID-19 lockdowns [Internet]. UNFPA. 2020 [cited 2020 May 4]. Available from: https://esaro.unfpa.org/en/news/survivors-gender-based-violence-need-access-services-times-crisis-especiallyduring-covid-19
- 49. Save the Children. 8 ways to ensure gender equality is at the centre of responses to covid-19 [Internet]. Save The Children Blog. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 29]. Available from: https://www.savethechildren.net/blog/8-ways-ensure-gender-equality-centre-responses-covid-19#
- 50. Plan International. COVID-19 school closures around the world will hit girls the hardest [Internet]. Plan International. 2020 [cited 2020 May 1]. Available from: https://plan-international.org/blog/2020/03/covid-19-school-closures-hit-girls-hardest
- 51. UNHCR. UNHCR stepping up coronavirus prevention measures for displaced across East, Horn and Great Lakes region of Africa [Internet]. Geneva; 2020. (Briefing Note). Available from: https://www.unhcr.org/news/briefing/2020/4/5e8c28c44/unhcr-stepping-coronavirus-prevention-measures-displaced-across-east-horn.html
- 52. GeoPoll. Coronavirus in Sub-Saharan Africa [Internet]. Nairobi, Kenya; 2020. Available from: https://www.geopoll.com/blog/coronavirus-africa/
- 53. Western Cape Government. Shelters for homeless adults [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 May 9]. Available from: https://www.westerncape.gov.za/directories/ facilities/847
- 54. WHO. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) Situation report 107 [Internet]. Geneva; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/

coronaviruse/situation-reports/20200506covid-19-sitrep-107.pdf?sfvrsn=159c3dc_2

- 55. Guan W-J, Ni Z-Y, Hu Y, Liang W-H, Ou C-Q, He J-X, et al. Clinical Characteristics of Coronavirus Disease 2019 in China. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2020;1–13. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32109013
- 56. CDC. Severe Outcomes Among Patients with Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) United States, February 12–March 16, 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep [Internet]. 2020;69(March 18 2020). Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/wr/mm6912e2.htm
- 57. WHO. Critical preparedness, readiness and response actions for COVID-19 [Internet]. Geneva; 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/docs/ default-source/coronaviruse/20200307-cccc-guidance-table-covid-19-final.pdf?sfvrsn=1c8ee193_10
- 58. The World Bank. In the face of Coronavirus, African countries apply lessons from Ebola response [Internet]. Washington DC; 2020. Available from: https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2020/04/03/
- 59. UNECA. COVID-19 in Africa: Protecting Lives and Economies [Internet]. Geneva; 2020. Available from: https://www.uneca.org/sites/default/files/ PublicationFiles/eca_covid_report_en_24apr_web1.pdf
- 60. The World Bank. World Bank Country and Lending Groups [Internet]. World Bank. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 28]. Available from: https://datahelpdesk. worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519.
- 61. ILO. +789 million and counting: The sub-Saharan African equation [Internet]. Geneva; 2017. (Employment Research Brief). Available from: https:// www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/documents/publication/wcms_559245.pdf
- 62. The World Bank. Unemployment, total (% of total labor force) (modeled ILO estimate) Sub-Saharan Africa [Internet]. The World Bank. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 29]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.UEM.TOTL.ZS
- 63. The World Bank. Poverty & Equity Data Portal: Sub-Saharan Africa: [Internet]. World Bank. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 29]. Available from: http:// povertydata.worldbank.org/poverty/region/SSF
- 64. The World Bank. Rural population (% of total population) Sub-Saharan Africa [Internet]. The World Bank. 2019 [cited 2020 Apr 28]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.RUR.TOTL.ZS?locations=ZG
- 65. The World Bank. Population ages 0-14 (% of total population) Sub-Saharan Africa [Internet]. The World Bank. 2020 [cited 2020 Aug 29]. Available from: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP.0014.TO.ZS?locations=ZG.
- McIntyre D, Obse A, Barasa E, Ataguba J. Challenges in Financing Universal Health Coverage in Sub-Saharan Africa. Oxford Encycl Econ Financ [Internet]. 2018;May(May):1–80. Available from: https://oxfordre.com/economics/view/10.1093/acrefore/9780190625979.001.0001/acrefore-9780190625979-e-28
- 67. Micah AE, Chapin A, Dieleman JL, Chen CS, Hashimi G, Zlavog BS. Trends and drivers of government health spending in sub-Saharan Africa, 1995–2015. BMJ Glob Heal [Internet]. 2019;4(1):e001159. Available from: https://gh.bmj.com/content/4/1/e001159
- 68. Di McIntyre, Filip Meheus. Fiscal Space for Domestic Funding of Health and Other Social Services [Internet]. Working Group on Financing, editor. Centre on Global Health Security Working Group Papers. London: Chatham House (The Royal Institute of International Affairs); 2014. Available from: https://www.chathamhouse.org/sites/default/files/home/chatham/public_html/sites/default/files/20140300DomesticFundingHealthMcIntyreMeheus. pdf
- 69. Nuwagira E, Muzoora C. Is Sub-Saharan Africa prepared for COVID-19? Trop Med Health [Internet]. 2020;48(1):1–3. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7146014/
- 70. Quaresima V, Naldini MM, Cirillo DM. The prospects for the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic in Africa. Preprint [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32301279
- 71. Makoni M. Africa prepares for coronavirus. Lancet [Internet]. 2020;395(February):19–21. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC7127800/pdf/main.pdf
- 72. Otitolojua AA, Okaforb IP, Fasonac M, Bawa-Allaha KA, Isanbord C, Chukwudoziee OS, et al. COVID-19 pandemic: examining the faces of spatial differences in the morbidity and mortality in sub-Saharan Africa, Europe and USA. MedRxiv [Internet]. 2020;April. Available from: https://www.medrxiv. org/content/10.1101/2020.04.20.20072322v1
- 73. Agyeman AA, Laar A, Ofori-Asenso R. Will COVID-19 be a litmus test for post-Ebola sub-Saharan Africa? J Med Virol [Internet]. 2020;103. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/32196700
- 74. Barasa E, Ouma P, Okiro E. Assessing the Hospital Surge Capacity of the Kenyan Health System in the Face of the COVID-19 Pandemic. MedRxiv [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.04.08.20057984v1
- Baker T, Schell CO, Petersen DB, Sawe H, Khalid K, Mndolo S, et al. Essential care of critical illness must not be forgotten in the. Lancet [Internet]. 2019;395(10232):1253–4. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30793-5
- 76. WHO. The world health report 2006: working together for health [Internet]. Geneva; 2006. Available from: https://www.who.int/whr/2006/en/
- 77. Afriyie D, Nyoni J, Ahmat A. The state of strategic plans for the health workforce in Africa. BMJ Glob Heal [Internet]. 2019;4. Available from: https:// gh.bmj.com/content/4/Suppl_9/e001115
- 78. WHO. A Universal Truth: No Health Withought a Workforce [Internet]. Geneva; 2013. Available from: https://www.who.int/workforcealliance/knowledge/resources/hrhreport2013/en/
- 79. WHO. Health workforce requirements for universal health coverage and the sustainable development goals [Internet]. Geneva; 2016. (Background paper to the Global Strategy on Human Resources for Health). Report No.: 1. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/hand le/10665/250330/9789241511407-eng.pdf
- 80. Johns Hopkins. Global Health Security Index: Bulding collective action and accountability [Internet]. Baltimore, Maryland; 2019. Available from: https://www.ghsindex.org/

- 81. The World Bank. The World Bank In Africa: Overview [Internet]. The World Bank. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 27]. Available from: https://www.worldbank. org/en/region/afr/overview
- Gilbert M, Pullano G, Pinotti F, Valdano E, Poletto C, Boëlle P-Y, et al. Preparedness and vulnerability of African countries against importations of COVID-19: a modelling study. Lancet Glob Heal [Internet]. 2020;Feb 19:19–21. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC7127800/pdf/main.pdf
- 83. Oxford Blavatnik School of Government. Coronavirus government response tracker [Internet]. University of Oxford. 2020 [cited 2020 May 5]. Available from: https://www.bsg.ox.ac.uk/research/research-projects/coronavirus-government-response-tracker
- Social Science in Humanitarian Action. Compliance with physical distancing measures for COVID-19 and implications for RCCE in Eastern and Southern Africa (April 2020) [Internet]. London; 2020. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/report/world/compliance-physical-distancing-measurescovid-19-and-implications-rcce-eastern-and
- 85. Jones B. Fragile states: Taking part in Africa's inclusive growth take-off. Africa Econ Br [Internet]. 2013;4(4). Available from: https://www.afdb.org/ sites/default/files/documents/publications/economic_brief_-_fragile_states_taking_part_in_africas_inclusive_growth_take-off.pdf
- 86. ADB. Fragile States and Conflict-Affected Countries [Internet]. Development Effectiveness Review. Tunisia; 2012. Available from: https://www.afdb. org/fileadmin/uploads/afdb/Documents/Project-and-Operations/Development_Effectiveness_Review_2012_-_Fragile_States_and_Conflict-Affected_ Countries.pdf
- 87. Google. See how your community is moving around differently due to COVID-19 [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 23]. Available from: https://www. google.com/covid19/mobility/
- Brand SPC, Aziza R, Hilton J, Rock K, Parisi AD, Nokes J, et al. Uncertainties and the impact of interventions on incidence during a novel coronavirus (SARS-CoV2/CoVID-19) epidemic in Kenya. Preprint [Internet]. 2020; (March 2020). Available from: https://www.medrxiv.org/ content/10.1101/2020.04.09.20059865v2.external-links.html
- 89. Romero-Severson, E. O., Hengartner N, Meadors G, Ke R. Decline in global COVID-19 transmission. MedRxiv2 [Internet]. 2020;April. Available from: https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.04.18.20070771v3
- 90. Nyabadza F, Chirove F, Chukwu WC, Visaya M V. Modelling the potential impact of social distancing on the COVID-19 epidemic in South Africa. MedRxiv [Internet]. 2020;April. Available from: https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.04.21.20074492v1
- 91. Frost I, O. G, Craig J, Hauck S, Kalanxhi E, Gatalo O, et al. COVID-19 : National Projections of Exposed, Contagious, Symptomatic & Severe Cases. [Internet]. Baltimore, Maryland; 2020. Available from: https://cddep.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/W-Africa-27-APRIL-2020.pdf
- 92. Wako A. Kenya: Eastleigh residents protest lockdown. All African [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://allafrica.com/stories/202005080067.html
- Anciano F, Cooper-Knock S, Dube M, Majola M, Papane BM. "We are still waiting" protesting under lockdown in South Africa [Internet]. Lockdown diaries. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 29]. Available from: https://www.opendemocracy.net/en/beyond-trafficking-and-slavery/we-are-still-waiting-protesting-under-lockdown-in-south-africa/
- 94. Kabir A. Lagos protesters kick against coronavirus lockdown, attack police officers. Premium Times [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://www. premiumtimesng.com/regional/ssouth-west/390093-lagos-protesters-kick-against-coronavirus-lockdown-attack-police-officers.html
- 95. Moore G. Curfews are a safer plan than total lockdowns to slow Covid-19's spread in informal economies [Internet]. QUARTZ Africa. 2020 [cited 2020 May 6]. Available from: https://qz.com/africa/1836458/curfews-not-lockdowns-will-slow-covid-19-spread-in-africa/
- 96. Bearak M, Ombuor R. Kenyan police shot dead a teenager on his balcony during a coronavirus curfew crackdown [Internet]. The Washington Post. 2020 [cited 2020 May 1]. Available from: https://www.washingtonpost.com/world/africa/kenyan-police-shot-dead-a-teenager-on-his-balcony-during-a-coronavirus-curfew-crackdown/2020/03/31/6344c70e-7350-11ea-ad9b-254ec99993bc_story.html
- 97. Ncube S. Rwanda: Police Reportedly Shot Dead 2 For 'Defying COVID-19 Lockdown Orders'No Title. All Africa [Internet]. 2020 Mar; Available from: https://allafrica.com/stories/202003260464.html
- 98. Venkatesh A, Edirappuli S. Social distancing in covid-19: What are the mental health implications? BMJ [Internet]. 2020;369(April):2020. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/doi:10.1136/bmj.m1379
- 99. Hull HF. SARS control and psychological effects of quarantine, Toronto, Canada. Emerg Infect Dis [Internet]. 2005;11(2):354–5. Available from: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3320456/
- 100. Jeong H, Yim HW, Song YJ, Ki M, Min JA, Cho J, et al. Mental health status of people isolated due to Middle East Respiratory Syndrome. Epidemiol Health [Internet]. 2016;38:e2016048. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/28196409
- 101. Reddy S. The impact of the nationwide lockdown on mental health. Daily Maverick [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://www.dailymaverick.co.za/ article/2020-04-03-the-impact-of-the-nationwide-lockdown-on-mental-health/
- 102. Adjei SB. The COVID-19 pandemic and the psychosocial pain of social distancing in Africa. CITI Newsroom [Internet]. 2020 Apr 5; Available from: https://citinewsroom.com/2020/04/the-covid-19-pandemic-and-the-psychosocial-pain-of-social-distancing-in-africa-article/
- 103. Roberton T, Carter E, Chou V, Stegmuller A, Jackson B, Tam Y, et al. Early estimates of the indirect effects of the coronavirus pandemic on maternal and child mortality in low- and middle-income countries. Lancet Glob Heal. 2020;preprint.
- 104. Dayo B. Coronavirus heightens anxiety among LGBTQ Nigerians with HIV [Internet]. AL Jazeera. 2020 [cited 2020 May 6]. Available from: https:// www.aljazeera.com/indepth/features/coronavirus-heightens-anxiety-lgbt-nigerians-hiv-200416145151434.html
- 105. Healthy Nation Team. The Covid-19 nightmare for pregnant women. Daily Nation [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://www.nation.co.ke/health/ Tough-call-for-pregnant-women-amid-Covid-19/3476990-5523670-2buxhl/index.html
- 106. WHO. The potential impact of health service disruptions on the burden of malaria: a modelling analysis for countries in sub-Saharan Africa. Geneva; 2020.

- Riley T, Sully E, Ahmed Z, Biddlecom A. Estimates of the Potential Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Sexual and Reproductive Health In Lowand Middle-Income Countries. Int Perspect Sex Reprod Health. 2020;46.
- 108. Kabale N, Oketch A. Coronavirus: For chronically ill, uncertainty about drugs. Daily Nation [Internet]. 2020 Mar 30; Available from: https://www.nation. co.ke/health/3476990-5508852-doab6w/index.html
- 109. Ford L. "Calamitous": domestic violence set to soar by 20% during global lockdown [Internet]. The Guardian. 2020. Available from: https://www. theguardian.com/global-development/2020/apr/28/calamitous-domestic-violence-set-to-soar-by-20-during-global-lockdown-coronavirus
- 110. Ataguba JE. COVID 19 Pandemic , a War to be Won : Understanding its Economic Implications for Africa. Appl Health Econ Health Policy [Internet]. 2020;(0123456789):20–3. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40258-020-00580-x
- 111. Oxfam. Dignity not destitution: An 'Economic Rescue Plan For All' to tackle the Coronavirus crisis and rebuild a more equal world [Internet]. Nairobi; 2020. Available from: https://www.oxfam.org/en/research/dignity-not-destitution
- 112. AL KJ, Ooko-Ombaka A, Sun YS. Tackling COVID-19 in Africa: An unfolding health and economic crisis that demands bold action. McKinsey & Company 2020 [Internet]. Nairobi; 2020. Available from: https://www.mckinsey.com/featured-insights/middle-east-and-africa/tackling-covid-19-in-africa
- 113. AU. Impact of the coronavirus (covid 19) on the African economy [Internet]. African Union. 2020. Available from: https://www.tralac.org/documents/ resources/covid-19/3218-impact-of-the-coronavirus-covid-19-on-the-african-economy-african-union-report-april-2020/file.html
- 114. Madden P. Figures of the week: The macroeconomic impact of COVID-19 in Africa [Internet]. Washington DC; 2020. Available from: https://www. brookings.edu/blog/africa-in-focus/2020/04/16/figures-of-the-week-the-macroeconomic-impact-of-covid-19-in-africa/
- 115. ECA. The economic impact of COVID-19 on African cities likely to be acute through a sharp decline in productivity, jobs & revenues [Internet]. African Renewal. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 30]. Available from: https://www.un.org/africarenewal/news/coronavirus/eca-economic-impact-covid-19-african-cities-likely-be-acute-through-sharp-decline-productivity.
- 116. McKinsey. Africa Economic Impact Kenya deep dive. Nairobi; 2020.
- 117. Daniel Gerszo Mahler C, Lakner RA, Aguilar C, Wu H. The impact of COVID-19 (Coronavirus) on global poverty: Why Sub-Saharan Africa might be the region hardest hit [Internet]. World Bank Blogs. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 30]. Available from: https://blogs.worldbank.org/opendata/impact-covid-19coronavirus-global-poverty-why-sub-saharan-africa-might-be-region-hardest
- 118. Ndii D. Memo to #UpperDeckPeopleKE: Coronavirus Economic Shock Is Coming and It Has Your Names on It: The Elephant [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://www.theelephant. info/?s=Memo+to+%23UpperDeckPeopleKE%3A+Coronavirus+Economic+Shock+Is+Coming+and+It+Has+Your+Names+on+It
- 119. Khan D. The Economic Impact of COVID-19 on Developing Countries [Internet]. 2020. Available from: http://www.ipsnews.net/2020/04/theeconomic-impact-of-covid-19-on-developing-countries/
- 120. WFP. COVID-19 and the 5 major threats it poses to global food security [Internet]. World Food Program Insight. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 30]. Available from: https://insight.wfp.org/covid-19-and-the-5-major-threats-it-poses-to-global-food-security-1c4da2ff6657
- 121. FSIN. Global Report on Food Crises: Joint analysis for better decisions [Internet]. Rome, Italy; 2020. Available from: https://www.wfp.org/ publications/2020-global-report-food-crises
- 122. Buchler S. What Impact Will COVID-19 Have on Food Security in Africa? [Internet]. Bryan Cave Leighton Paisner. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 30]. Available from: https://www.bclplaw.com/en-US/insights/what-impact-will-covid-19-have-on-food-security-in-africa.html
- 123. Harris J. Diets in a time of coronavirus: Don't let vegetables fall off the plate [Internet]. IFRI Blog. 2020 [cited 2020 May 1]. Available from: https:// www.ifpri.org/blog/diets-time-coronavirus-dont-let-vegetables-fall-plate
- 124. UNCTAD. The State of Commodity Dependence [Internet]. New York; 2019. Available from: https://unctad.org/en/PublicationsLibrary/ ditccom2019d1_en.pdf
- 125. Njeru TN, Were MA. Why COVID-19 is another blow for Kenya's food security. The Conversation [Internet]. 2020 Apr;April 20. Available from: https:// theconversation.com/why-covid-19-is-another-blow-for-kenyas-food-security-135567
- 126. Murungi N. Farm to kiosk: Disrupting the way Nairobi's informal traders buy produce. Africa Business Insight [Internet]. 2016; Available from: https:// www.howwemadeitinafrica.com/farm-kiosk-disrupting-way-nairobis-informal-traders-buy-produce/55944/
- 127. Steve Wiggins, Keats S, Compton J. What caused the food price spike of 2007/08? Lessons for world cereals markets [Internet]. London; 2010. Available from: https://www.odi.org/sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/6103.pdf
- 128. International Grains Coumcil. Export Prices [Internet]. International Grains Council. 2020 [cited 2020 May 12]. Available from: https://www.igc.int/en/ markets/marketinfo-prices.aspx
- 129. Rodgers C. COVID-19 has Kenyan refugee camp on edge. The New Humanitarian [Internet]. 2020 Apr; Available from: https://www. thenewhumanitarian.org/news/2020/04/14/kenya-kakuma-refugee-camp-coronavirus
- 130. Austrian K, Abuya T. We wanted to know how coronavirus affects Nairobi's slum residents. What we found. The Conversation [Internet]. 2020 May; Available from: https://theconversation.com/we-wanted-to-know-how-coronavirus-affects-nairobis-slum-residents-what-we-found-137621
- 131. Iqbal SA, Azevedo JP, Geven K, Hasan A, Patrinos HA. We should avoid flattening the curve in education Possible scenarios for learning loss during the school lockdowns [Internet]. World Bank Blogs. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 28]. Available from: https://blogs.worldbank.org/education/we-shouldavoid-flattening-curve-education-possible-scenarios-learning-loss-during-school
- 132. Mohamedbhai G. COVID-19: What consequences for higher education? University World News, African edition [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://www.universityworldnews.com/page.php?page=Contact_Us_Intro
- 133. Azzi-Huck K, Shmis T. Managing the impact of COVID-19 on education systems around the world: How countries are preparing, coping, and

planning for recovery [Internet]. World Bank Blogs2. 2020 [cited 2020 May 1]. Available from: https://blogs.worldbank.org/education/managing-impactcovid-19-education-systems-around-world-how-countries-are-preparing

- 134. Save the Children. COVID-19: Millions out of school, jeopardising the future of children in West and Central Africa [Internet]. Reliefwed. 2020 [cited 2020 May 2]. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/report/mali/covid-19-millions-out-school-jeopardising-future-children-west-and-central-africa
- 135. Borkowski A, Hares S, Minardi AL. With Schools Closed, Hundreds of Millions of Children Are Not Receiving School Meals [Internet]. Washington DC; 2020. Available from: https://www.cgdev.org/blog/schools-closed-hundreds-millions-children-are-not-receiving-school-meals
- 136. Whittaker L. Coronavirus: school closures mean an increased risk of hunger for families around the world. Conversat [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://theconversation.com/coronavirus-school-closures-mean-an-increased-risk-of-hunger-for-families-around-the-world-133969
- 137. Roelf W. South African children face hunger as school closure halts free meals. Reuters [Internet]. 2020 May; Available from: https://www.reuters.com/ article/us-health-coronavirus-safrica-hunger/south-african-children-face-hunger-as-school-closure-halts-free-meals-idUSKBN22J1UL
- 138. Wenham C, Smith J, Morgan R. COVID-19: the gendered impacts of the outbreak. Lancet [Internet]. 2020;395(10227):846–8. Available from: http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30526-2
- 139. Evans D. How Will COVID-19 affect women and girls in low- and middle-income countries? [Internet]. CGD Blog. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 28]. Available from: https://www.cgdev.org/blog/how-will-covid-19-affect-women-and-girls-low-and-middle-income-countries
- 140. Mazibuko N. High COVID-19 GBV statistics are no surprise [Internet]. UNISA. 2020 [cited 2020 May 2]. Available from: https://www.unisa.ac.za/sites/ corporate/default/Colleges/Human-Sciences/News-&-events/Articles/High-COVID-19-GBV-statistics-are-no-surprise
- 141. UN. Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable [Internet]. 11 Sustinable cities and communities. 2020 [cited 2020 May 3]. Available from: https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/report/2019/goal-11/
- 142. UNHCR. AFRICA [Internet]. UNHCR. 2020 [cited 2020 May 3]. Available from: https://www.unhcr.org/africa.html
- 143. Lennard J. Africa report on internal displacement [Internet]. Geneva; 2019. Available from: https://www.internal-displacement.org/africa-report
- 144. Snyder RE, Boone CE, Cardoso CAA, Aguiar-Alves F, Neves FPG, Riley LW. Zika: A scourge in urban slums. PLoS Negl Trop Dis [Internet]. 2017;11(3):5– 8. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5363799/
- 145. Snyder RE, Marlow MA, Riley LW. Ebola in urban slums: The elephant in the room. Lancet Glob Heal [Internet]. 2014;2(12):e685. Available from: http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(14)70339-0
- 146. Riley LW, Ko Al, Unger A, Reis MG. Slum health: Diseases of neglected populations. BMC Int Health Hum Rights [Internet]. 2007;7:1–6. Available from: https://bmcinthealthhumrights.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1472-698X-7-2
- 147. Emina J, Beguy D, Zulu EM, Ezeh AC, Muindi K, Elung'Ata P, et al. Monitoring of health and demographic outcomes in poor urban settlements: Evidence from the Nairobi Urban Health and Demographic Surveillance System. J Urban Heal [Internet]. 2011;88(SUPPL. 2):200–18. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3132229/
- 148. Lilford RJ, Oyebode O, Satterthwaite D, Melendez-Torres GJ, Chen YF, Mberu B, et al. Improving the health and welfare of people who live in slums. Lancet [Internet]. 2017;389(10068):559–70. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31848-7
- 149. Farha L. Protecting Residents of Informal Settlements [Internet]. Geneva; 2020. (Covid 19 Global guidance note). Available from: https://unhabitat.org/ sites/default/files/2020/04/guidance_note_-_informal_settlements_29march_2020_final3.pdf
- 150. Hall M. Two refugees explain what COVID-19 means in their precarious world [Internet]. World Economic Forum. 2020. Available from: https://www. weforum.org/agenda/2020/04/covid-19-poses-its-own-set-of-challenges-for-refugees/
- 151. Mberu BU, Ciera JM, Elungata P, Ezeh AC. Patterns and determinants of poverty transitions among poor urban households in Nairobi, Kenya. Afr Dev Rev [Internet]. 2014;26:172–85. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/1467-8268.12073
- 152. Dahab M, Zandvoort K van, Flasche S, Warsame A, Spiegel PB, Waldman RJ, et al. COVID-19 control in low-income settings and displaced populations: what can realistically be done? [Internet]. London; 2020. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/report/world/covid-19-control-low-income-settings-and-displaced-populations-what-can-realistically
- 153. Jei. Corona diaries for the urban poor [Internet]. Jei. 2020 [cited 2020 May 1]. Available from: https://www.justempower.org/coronadiaries
- 154. Kretchy IA, Asiedu-Danso M, Kretchy J-P. Medication management and adherence during the COVID-19 pandemic: Perspectives and experiences from low-and-middle-income countries. Res Soc Adm Pharm [Internet]. 2020;April. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7158799/
- 155. Starts SA. Five Facts about poverty in South Africa [Internet]. Stats SA. 2020. Available from: http://www.statssa.gov.za/?p=12075
- 156. The World Bank. South Africa [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 29]. Available from: https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/southafrica
- 157. StatsSA. Midyear Population Estimate 2019. Popul Estim [Internet]. 2019;(July). Available from: https://www.statssa.gov.za/publications/P0302/ P03022019.pdf
- 158. Department of Health South Africa, Statistics South Africa, South Africa Medical Research Council. South Africa Demographic and Health Survey 2016 [Internet]. Pretoria, South Africa; 2019. Available from: https://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/FR337.pdf
- 159. Posel D, Rogan M. Gendered trends in poverty in the post-apartheid period, 1997-2006. Dev South Afr [Internet]. 2012;29(1):97–113. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/0376835X.2012.645645
- 160. Leibbrandt M, Woolard I, Finn A, Argent J. Trends in South African Income Distribution and Poverty since the Fall of Apartheid [Internet]. OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers. 2010. (OECD Social, Employment and Migration Working Papers,). Available from: https://www.oecdilibrary.org/social-issues-migration-health/trends-in-south-african-income-distribution-and-poverty-since-the-fall-of-apartheid_5kmms0t7p1ms-en
- 161. Fransman T, Yu D. Multidimensional poverty in South Africa in 2001–16. Dev South Afr [Internet]. 2018;36(1):50–79. Available from: https://www. tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/0376835X.2018.1469971?journalCode=cdsa20

- 162. Pernegger L, Godehart S. Townships in the South African Geographic Landscape physical and social legacies and challenges [Internet]. 2007. Available from: http://www.treasury.gov.za/divisions/bo/ndp/TTRI/TTRI Oct 2007/Day 1 - 29 Oct 2007/1a Keynote Address Li Pernegger Paper.pdf
- Jürgens U, Donaldson R, Rule S, Bähr J. Townships in South African cities Literature review and research perspectives. Habitat Int [Internet]. 2013;39:256–60. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.habitatint.2012.10.011
- 164. Sekyere E, Bohler-Muller N, Hongoro C, Makoae M. The Impact of COVID-19 in South Africa [Internet]. Washington DC; 2020. (Africa Program Occasional Paper). Available from: https://www.wilsoncenter.org/publication/impact-covid-19-south-africa
- 165. Makinana A. Expect more cluster outbreaks under Level 4 Zweli Mkhize. Times Live [Internet]. 2020 Apr; Available from: https://www.timeslive. co.za/politics/2020-04-27-expect-more-cluster-outbreaks-under-level-4-zweli-mkhize/
- 166. South African Government. Regulations and Guidelines Coronavirus Covid-19 [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 May 6]. Available from: https://www.gov. za/coronavirus/guidelines
- 167. Department of Cooperative Governance and Traditional Affairs. Distater Management Act: Department of Cooperative Governance and Traditional Affairs [Internet]. Government Notices No 43258, NO R 480 South Africa; 2020. Available from: https://www.bizportal.gov.za/files/regulations_ amendments.pdf
- 168. Department of Health South Africa. Schedule of Services Framework For Sectors [Internet]. Covid-19 Online Resource & News Portal. Pre; 2020. Available from: http://www.squashsa.co.za/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/2020-04-25-Permitted-goods-services-and-movement-Public-Version.pdf
- 169. Arndt C, Davies R, Gabriel S, Harris L, Makrelov K, Modise B, et al. Impact of Covid-19 on the South African economy [Internet]. Pretoria; 2020. Available from: https://www.ifpri.org/publication/impact-covid-19-south-african-economy-initial-analysis
- 170. Arndt C, Gabriel S, Robinson S. Assessing the toll of COVID-19 lockdown measures on the South African economy [Internet]. IFRI Blog. 2020 [cited 2020 May 6]. Available from: https://www.ifpri.org/blog/assessing-toll-covid-19-lockdown-measures-south-african-economy
- 171. Delay J. Deep inequalities of social distancing in South Africa-in pictures [Internet]. Photographing the pandemic. 2020 [cited 2020 May 6]. Available from: https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/gallery/2020/apr/15/deep-inequalities-of-social-distancing-in-south-africa-in-pictures-coronavirus
- 172. Human Sciences Research Council. HSRC Study on COVID-19 indicates overwhelming compliance with the lockdown [Internet]. 2020. Available from: http://www.hsrc.ac.za/en/media-briefs/general/lockdown-survey-results
- 173. Egan A. Hunger begins to replace Covid-19 as existential fear in South Africa. American, the Jesuit Review [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https:// www.americamagazine.org/politics-society/2020/04/28/hunger-begins-replace-covid-19-existential-fear-south-africa
- 174. Besheer M. UN Chief: Coronavirus Pressures Leading to Global Surge in Domestic Violence [Internet]. VOA. 2020 [cited 2020 May 2]. Available from: https://www.voanews.com/science-health/coronavirus-outbreak/un-chief-coronavirus-pressures-leading-global-surge-domestic?utm_ source=Media+Review+for+April+6%2C+2020&utm_campaign=Media+Review+for+April+6%2C+2020&utm_medium=email
- 175. IMF. Policy responses to COVID-19 [Internet]. International Monetary Fund. 2020 [cited 2020 Apr 27]. Available from: https://www.imf.org/en/Topics/ imf-and-covid19/Policy-Responses-to-COVID-19#K
- 176. Hallink C. South Africa to implement emergency cash transfer for the unemployed [Internet]. Basic Income Earth Network. 2020. Available from: https://basicincome.org/news/2020/04/25471/
- 177. Department of Human Settlements Water and Sanitation. Minister Lindiwe Sisulu on government's response to Coronavirus COVID-19 pandemic. Newsroom: Media Statements. 2020.
- 178. Zali M. CoronavirusSA: Restrictions lifted on informal food traders [Internet]. Health -E News. 2020 [cited 2020 May 8]. Available from: https:// health-e.org.za/2020/04/08/coronavirussa-restrictions-lifted-on-informal-food-traders/
- 179. KNBS. The Kenya Integrated Household Budget Survey 2015 [Internet]. Nairobi; 2018. Available from: http://statistics.knbs.or.ke/nada/index.php/ catalog/88
- Brand SPC, Aziza R, Kombe IK, Agoti CN, Hilton J, Rock KS, et al. Forecasting the scale of the COVID-19 epidemic in Kenya. medRxiv [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2020.04.09.20059865v2
- 181. Nairobi News. Kenya frees 4,800 prisoners to decongest prisons [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://nairobinews.nation.co.ke/editors-picks/ kenya-frees-4800-prisoners-to-decongest-prisons
- 182. Ministry of Health & Population Council. Kenya: COVID-19 Knowledge, Attitudes, Practices & Needs [Internet]. Nairobi; 2020. Available from: https:// www.popcouncil.org/uploads/pdfs/2020PGY_CovidKenyaKAPStudyResultsBriefRound2.pdf
- 183. The World Bank. COVID-19 Dampens Kenya's Economic Outlook as Government Scales up Safety Net Measures [Internet]. The World Bank. 2020 [cited 2020 May 8]. Available from: https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2020/04/29/covid-19-dampens-kenyas-economic-outlookas-government-scales-up-safety-net-measures
- 184. Owino S. Kenyans a worried lot as virus causes 130000 job losses. Dailiy Nation [Internet]. 2020 Apr; Available from: https://www.nation.co.ke/news/ Coronavirus-causes-130-000-job-losses/1056-5538262-jhwua8/index.html

- 185. Web Desk. Kenya: Mother "boiling" stones for hungry kids portrays grop reality of COVID-19. The Week [Internet]. 2020 May; Available from: https:// www.theweek.in/news/world/2020/05/02/kenya-mother-boiling-stones-hungry-kids-portrays-grim-reality-covid19.html
- 186. The World Bank. The World Bank in Senegal [Internet]. The World Bank. 2020 [cited 2020 May 3]. Available from: https://www.worldbank.org/en/ country/senegal/overview
- 187. The World Bank. Systematic Country Diagnostic of Senegal [Internet]. Dakar; 2018. Available from: http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/336611539873310474/Senegal-Systematic-Country-Diagnostic
- 188. Agence nationale de la Statistique et de la Démographie. Enquête nationale sur l'Emploi au Sénégal Deuxième trimestre 2019 [Internet]. Dakar; 2019. Available from: http://www.ansd.sn/ressources/rapports/Rapport ENES 2017 TRIM 2.pdf
- 189. The World Bank. Population living in slums (% of urban population) Senegal [Internet]. The World Bank. 2020. Available from: https://data. worldbank.org/indicator/EN.POP.SLUM.UR.ZS?locations=SN
- 190. Agence Nationale de la Statistique et de la Démographie. La population du senegal en 2018 [Internet]. Dakar; 2019. Available from: http://www.ansd. sn/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=481:la-population-du-senegal-en-2018&catid=56:depeches&Itemid=264
- 191. The World Health Organization. Senegal reports first COVID-19 case [Internet]. WHO Regional Office for Africa. 2020 [cited 2020 May 2]. Available from: https://www.afro.who.int/news/senegal-reports-first-covid-19-case
- 192. The World Bank. Senegal COVID-19 Response Project [Internet]. Dakar; 2020. Available from: https://projects.worldbank.org/en/projects-operations/ project-detail/P173838
- 193. Ministère de la Santé et de l'Action Sociale. COVID-19 :Les decisions de son excellence monsieur Macky Sall, President de la Republique du Senegal [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 May 2]. Available from: http://www.sante.gouv.sn/mediatheque/videotheques/coronavirus-les-décisions-de-sonexcellence-monsieur-macky-sall-président
- 194. Ministère de la santé et de l'Action sociale. Communique No. 17 [Internet]. Dakar; Available from: http://www.sante.gouv.sn/
- 195. Agence de Presse Sénégalaise. COVID-19 : La fermeture des frontières aériennes prolongée jusqu'au 31 mai (ministre). 2020 Apr; Available from: http://www.faapa.info/blog/covid-19-la-fermeture-des-frontieres-aeriennes-prolongee-jusquau-31-mai-ministre/
- 196. Gouvernement République du Sénégal. Message de sem le Président de la République Macky Sall-Declaration d'etat d'urgence dans le cadre de la lutte contre la maladie a coronavirus COVID-19 [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://www.sec.gouv.sn/actualité/message-de-sem-le-président-de-la-république-macky-sall-déclaration-d'état-d'urgence-dans
- 197. Gouvernement République du Sénégal. Arrêté Ministériel No 008231 du 25 Mars 2020 relatif aux mesures de restriction dans le secteur des transports terrestres pour la lutte contre le COVID-19 [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://www.sec.gouv.sn/actualité/arrêté-ministériel-n°-008231du-25-mars-2020-relatif-aux-mesures-de-restriction-dans-le
- 198. Agence de Presse Sénégalaise. Covid-19 : de nouvelles restrictions dans le secteur des transports. 2020 Mar; Available from: http://aps.sn/ actualites/article/covid-19-annonce-de-nouvelles-restrictions-dans-le-secteur-des-transports
- 199. Radio France International. Le Sénégal face à la problématique du Covid-19 en milieu carcéral [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 May 1]. Available from: http://www.rfi.fr/fr/afrique/20200428-senegal-coronavirus-covid-probleme-prison
- 200. Press Afrik. Coronavirus Sénégal: La gestion des cas communautaires laissée aux Gouverneurs de régions. 2020 Apr; Available from: https://www. pressafrik.com/Coronavirus-Senegal-La-gestion-des-cas-communautaires-laissee-aux-Gouverneurs-de-regions_a214267.html
- 201. Agence de Presse Sénégalaise. COVID-19 : Vers le confinement des villages de Thiéckène et Darou Salam, à Kaolack. 2020; Available from: http:// www.faapa.info/blog/covid-19-vers-le-confinement-des-villages-de-thieckene-et-darou-salam-a-kaolack/
- 202. Xinhua. Senegal beefs up measures amid economic slowdown due to COVID-19 [Internet]. Xinhuanet. 2020 [cited 2020 May 4]. Available from: http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2020-04/04/c_138946321.htm
- 203. Gueye S. COVID-19/transport clandestin et ambulants : La menace des «bombes mobiles» [Internet]. Seneweb. 2020. Available from: https:// senegal5.com/covid-19-transport-clandestin-et-ambulants-la-menace-des-bombes-mobiles/
- 204. Agence de Presse Sénégalaise. COVID : Le Gouverneur de Kaolack met en garde contre le non respect de l'interdiction de circuler entre régions. 2020; Available from: http://aps.sn/actualites/societe/sante/article/covid-le-gouverneur-de-kaolack-met-en-garde-contre-le-non-respect-de-l-interdiction-de-circuler-entre-regions
- 205. UNESCO. COVID-19 in Senegal: Strong measures to contain the contagion [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 May 3]. Available from: https://en.unesco. org/news/covid-19-senegal-strong-measures-contain-contagion
- 206. Agence de Presse Sénégalaise. COVID-19 : Démarrage officiel de la distribution de kits alimentaires. 2020 Apr; Available from: http://aps.sn/ actualites/societe/article/covid19-demarrage-officiel-de-la-distribution-de-kits-alimentaires
- 207. KPMG. Government and institutional measures in response to COVID-19 [Internet]. Senegal. 2020. Available from: https://home.kpmg/xx/en/home/ insights/2020/04/senegal-government-and-institution-measures-in-response-to-covid.html



HEALTH AND SOCIO-ECONOMIC IMPACTS OF PHYSICAL DISTANCING FOR COVID-19 IN AFRICA

KEMRI | Wellcome Trust







